Oracle FLEXCUBE Process Flow Guide Oracle FLEXCUBE Universal Banking Release 12.2.0.0.0 [May] [2016]



Table of Contents

1.	GEI	NERIC MAINTENANCE	
1	.1	CONFIGURING LANDING PAGE	
1	.2	USER'S DASHBOARD	
	1.2.1	l Dashboard Maintenance:	
	1.2.2	2 Dashboard Role Maintenance:	
1	.3	BAM DASHBOARD	
	1.3.1	BAM Report Maintenance:	
1	.4	CONFIGURING QUEUES	
1	.5	CONFIGURING SUB-STAGES	
1	.6	CHECKING DUPLICATE TRANSACTIONS	1-16
1	.7	ENABLING USER RIGHTS	1-17
1	.8	MAINTAINING CREDIT RATING RULES	19
	1.8.1	l Main Tab	20
	1.8.2	2 Risk Factor Tab	21
	1.8.3	3 Specifying Credit Grades	23
	1.8.4	4 Specifying Auto Decision Details	24
1	.9	VIEWING CREDIT RULE SUMMARY	25
1	.10	MAINTAINING CREDIT RATIOS	26
	1.10	1 Specifying Formula Details	27
1	.11	VIEWING CREDIT RATIO SUMMARY	
1	.12	USER LOAD LIMIT MAINTENANCE	29
1	.13	RAITO TEMPLATE DEFINITION – MAINTENANCE	30
	1.13	.1 Maintaining Override Details	
	1.13	.2 Maintaining Override Formulae	
1	.14	VIEWING OVERRIDE SUMMARY	35
1	.15	MAINTAINING DOCUMENT DETAILS	
1	.16	VIEWING DOCUMENT CHECKLIST SUMMARY	
1	.17	MAINTAINING PRICING DETAILS	
1	.18	VIEWING PRICING DETAILS	41
	1.18	1 Maintaining Pricing Formula	
	1.18	.2 Maintaining Pricing Offer	
	1.18	<i>Pricing in Category Maintenance</i>	45
	1.18	2.4 Pricing in Under-Writing	46
1	.19	GETTING STARTED WITH ORACLE BUSINESS RULES	48
	1.19	.1 Introduction to the Business Rule Service Component	
	1.19	.2 Integrating BPEL Processes, Business Rules, and Human Tasks	
	1.19	.3 Overview of Rules Designer Editor Environment	
	1.19	.4 Introduction to Creating and Editing Business Rules	53
	1.19	.5 Adding Business Rules to a BPEL Process	
	1.19	6 Adding Business Rules to a SOA Composite Application	
	1.19	7 Running Business Rules in a Composite Application	
	1.19	Editing Business Rules through SOA Composer	
I	.20	INTEGRATING ORACLE FCUBS WITH BPEL PROCESS MANAGER	
	1.20	1 Tying Human Tasks with FCUBS screens	
	1.20	2 Workust/Queue Configuration	83
	1.20	Linkage to Uracle FCUBS validations and modus operandi	
I	.21	CONFIGURING ORACLE FCUBS WITH ORACLE UCM AND BIP	
	1.21	1 Oracle r CUBS and Oracle UCM	
1	1.21	LOW TO INSTRUMENT DEL DE OFERE TO DUCE TO DAM	
1	.22	TOW TO INSTRUMENT BPEL PROCESS TO PUSH DATA TO BAM	
	1.22	.1 Enabling Sensors	



	1.22	2.2 Adding External Data Source	
2.	NE	W PROCESS DEVELOPMENT	2-103
2	2.1	BPEL COMPONENTS:	
	2.1.	1 Guidelines for defining the process:	
	XI.	Throw Activity generates a fault from inside the business process	
2	2.2	EMBEDDING THE PAYLOAD.	
2	2.3	SCREEN DEFINITION IN ODT	
2	2.4	STITCHING UP PROCESS & SCREENS	
2	2.5	WORK LIST / QUEUE CONFIGURATION	2-111
3.	MC	DIFYING AN EXISTING PROCESS	
2	3.1	Adding a new Stage	3-112
3	3.2	REMOVING AN EXISTING STAGE / BYPASSING AN EXISTING STAGE	3-112
3	3.3	ADDING FIELDS TO EXISTING PROCESS	3-112
3	3.4	ALTERING APPROVAL MATRIX	3-112
3	3.5	ALTERING BUSINESS RULES	3-113
3	3.6	ALTERING QUEUE CONFIGURATION	3-113
4.	TR	OUBLE SHOOTING - FAQ	4-114
4	4.1	HOW TO RECOVER STALE INSTANCES?	4-114
4	4.2	HOW TO HANDLE THE GROWING INSTANCES IN THE PRODUCTION ENVIRONMENT?	4-114
2	1.3	WHAT IS THE PROCEDURE TO MOVE THE FCUBS APPLICATION WITH BPEL FROM ONE WEBL	OGIC SERVER
1	FO AN	OTHER WEBLOGIC SERVER WITHOUT AFFECTING THE EXISTING REPOSITORY?	4-115
2	1.4	WHEN THE INSTANCES WILL BECOME STALE?	4-115
4	1.5	HOW & WHERE TO CHANGE THE TRANSACTION TIMEOUT SETTINGS FOR BPEL?	4-115
4	1.6	WHAT IS THE FREQUENCY TO TAKE THE SOA SCHEMAS BACKUP?	4-116
2	1.7	HOW & WHERE TO LOOK FOR MISSING INSTANCES?	4-117
2	1.8	BPEL IS NOT WORKING WHEN DEPLOYING FLEXCUBE 11.2 WITH SAO 11.3 AND ABOVE?	4-117
4	1.9	SOA SERVER IS CRASHING WHEN LOGGING IN TO THE APPLICATION?	
2	4.10	INSTANCES ARE BECOMING FAULT WHILE INVOKING THE SUB PROCESSES?	
2	4.11	WHERE TO LOCATE THE LOGS AND WHICH ARE ALL THE LOGS TO LOCATE?	
4	4.12	WHY PREDEPLOY NEEDS AND THE STEPS TO BE FOLLOWED?	
1	1.13	1 AM USING SOA/BPEL 10G, CAN I USE BAM 11G WITHOUT UPGRADING MY SOA 10G INSTAI	LATION? 4-
2	1.14	IS ORACLE BAM 11G AVAILABLE SEPARATELY?	



1. Generic Maintenance

1.1 Configuring Landing Page

The page that is displayed on invoking the application is called as the 'Landing Page'. As mentioned above, you can launch a search for a particular task on the basis of the fields displayed in the Task List pane under the 'All' sub-menu in the 'Search' main menu item. The fields under this sub-menu (All) are pre-defined in the system and represent all process flows. The search fields under the 'All' sub-menu are displayed as shown in the screen below:

JEEV001 - 000 - 000 - Oracle FLEXCUBE UBS1.1.2 - 6	ENG - 2012-03-05 - Transa	tion Input -	Windows Internet Explo	orer				
Home Interactions Customer Workflow Tasks	Preferences				Change Branch	Options Window	v Help Sign Off	→
Tasks 🗧								<> €
Search	Task List - Search							
Standard	Workflow Reference	=	•	Assignee Users	=			
	Transaction Reference	=	•	Customer Name	-			
	Title	=	-	Amount	= -	_		
	Assignee Group	=	•	Creation Date(From\To)	2	2		
	Priority	=				Search		
Start		1.1.1	N. New		Y Y			

You can also choose to maintain additional fields for specific process flows, When you maintain additional fields for search operation for a process flow, the process flow is displayed under the 'Search' main menu and all the fields (pre-defined and the additional ones maintained for the process flow) become available for you to search on.

You can define the process-flow specific additional fields in the 'Landing Page Configuration' screen, which you can invoke by typing 'SMDLNDPG' in the field at the top right corner of the Application tool bar and clicking the adjoining arrow button. The following screen is displayed:



◆ Landing Page Configuration	n	_ ×
🗋 New Enter Query		
- Maintenance Details		
Process Code		
Maintenance Details		
I	Go	+ - 📰
Field Name Field Label	Display Searchable Sequence Number	
		~
Maker	Date Time:	
Checker		
		Exit
Mod No	Record Status	
	Authorization Status	

Here, you can capture the following details:

Process Code

Specify the function ID associated with the process work flow for which you are defining additional details.

Field Name

Select the field name which should appear in the Task List pane when you carry out a search for a task under the process flow mentioned above.

Field Label

Specify the name that should be displayed in the Task List pane.

Display

Check this box if the value of the field specified should be displayed as part of task details when you click on a task. This is applicable only when the 'Process Code' field is 'specified as 'All'.

Searchable

Check this box to indicate that the field should be made available for searching tasks. This facility is available for any 'Process Code'.

Seq No

Specify the order of display for the filed.



For instance, if you have maintained the fields 'Currency' and Product ID as an additional field for the Export LC process flow, you can see these fields along with the ones available under the 'All' sub-menu, when you click the 'Export LC' queue under the 'Search' main menu item as shown in the screen below:

me Interactions Customer Workflow Task	s Prefer	ences					Change Branch	Options	Window Hel	p Sign Off		÷
Search	Task Li	st - Search										
Standard	Workflo	w Reference	=		Assignee Users	[=					
	Transa	ction Reference	-		Customer Name	ľ						
	Title		- •		Amount	i	= -					
	Assign	ee Group	-		Creation Date(Fr	om\To)	1 2	2				
	Priority		-					Search				
	Task Li	st										
	Acquire	Release Resum	e Renew Reas	sign Copy 📢	Page 1 Of 20 🕨	🕨 Ju	Imp to page Go					
		Workflow	Reference	Transaction Reference	Title		Assignee Group	Assignee Users	Customer Name	Amount	Creation Date (From\To)†	Prio
		CreateCorporate	Customer4214		Check for Prospec Credit History	t C	AEROLE-000			-	2012-06-06 16:45:41 IST	Low
		CreateCorporate	Customer4214		Ascertain if KYC Ch Required	necks K	YCEROLE-000			-	2012-06-06 16:47:07 IST	Low
	V	CreateCorporate	Customer4304		Retrieve Prospects Credit Report And Analyze	AI 00	LLROLES- 00,CAEROLE-000		33	:	2012-06-08 12:53:46 IST	Low
		OpenRetaiITD44	89		Receive And Verify Documents	A	LLROLES-000		Deepak	:	2012-06-14 17:51:20 IST	Low
		OpenRetailTD44	90		Receive And Verify Documents		LLROLES-000			:	2012-06-14 17:52:38 IST	
		OpenCurrentAcc	ount2127	Verify Prospect Or Customer Details		AI 00	LLROLES- 00,KYCEROLE- 00	Jeevit Davidson		:	2012-06-21 12:43:12 IST	Low
		OpenCurrentAcc	ount3617		Verify Prospect Or Customer Details	AL 00	LLROLES- 00,KYCEROLE- 00			:	2012-07-02 13:25:07 IST	Low
	Task His	story										
		Action Time		Pickup Tim	e Use	r ID	User Name	Action C	ode Actio	n Descriptio	n Branch	Rema
	Fri Jun	08 12:53:45 IST 2	012 Fri Ju	un 08 12:34:43 IST	T 2012 myth0	07 Myt	thili Panneerselvam	AVAILAB	LE AVAIL	ABLE	000	
	Fri Jun	08 12:35:02 IST 2	012 Fri Ju	un 08 12:34:43 IST	T 2012 myth0	07 Myt	thili Panneerselvam	COMPLE	TE COMP	PLETE	000	
	Fri Jun	08 12:35:25 IST 2	012 Fri Ju	un 08 12:35:03 IST	T 2012 myth0	07 Myt	thili Panneerselvam	REQUIR	ED REQU	JIRED	000	
	Fri Jun	08 12:35:47 IST 2	012 Fri Ju	un 08 12:35:26 IST	T 2012 myth0	07 Myt	thili Panneerselvam	CLEARE	D CLEA	RED	000	
	Fri Jun	08 12:39:18 IST 2	012 Fri Ju	un 08 12:35:47 IST	T 2012 myth0	07 Myt	thili Panneerselvam	PROCEE	D PROC	EED	000	
	Fri Jun	08 12:46:40 IST 2	012 Fri Ju	un 08 12:39:19 IST	T 2012 myth0	07 Myt	thili Panneerselvam	PROCEE	D PROC	EED	000	
	Fri Jun	08 12:52:34 IST 2	012 Fri Ju	un 08 12:46:40 IST	T 2012 myth0	07 Myt	thili Panneerselvam	PROCEE	D PROC	EED	000	
	Fri Jun	08 12:52:56 IST 2	012 Fri Ju	un 08 12:52:34 IST	T 2012 myth0	07 Myt	thili Panneerselvam	PASSED	PASS	ED	000	



1.2 User's Dashboard

Origination module provides a facility to display the customized dashboard to summarize the activities which are pending for the user to perform an action. From the Dashboard, user is allowed to perform various actions like acquire task, release task, process the task, reassign the task based on the accessibility / rights for that specific user and his roles. Dashboard can be defined for specific roles or a specific user level

ORACLE [.]					Branch : 000	Date : 2011-01-04 Session Tin	ne : 00:	:00:51 <u>Window</u> <u>Help</u> Logged User : <u>DEMO002</u>	I <u>Sign Off</u>
Home Interactions Customer	Workflow T	asks	Prefere	noes					
Search	>	-	Assig	gned Tasks(6)		E Filter	53	Acquired Tasks(0)	🔲 Filter 😥
Juick Search		-			Page 1 Of 1	🕨 Jump to page 📃 🖨	•	📰 💽 🗭 📢 🖣 Page 0 Of 0 🕨	Jump to page
Application #	Q			Workflow Reference	Title	Creation Date (From\To)↑		Workflow Reference Title	Creation Date(From\To) 1
Application				RetailLending8078	Application Input	2014-04-04 14:11:05 IST	E		
Origination		- 17		RetailLending8080	Underwriting	2014-04-04			
BIP DashBoard		E		RetailLending8081	Underwriting	2014-04-04 14:14:58 IST	-		
ProcessAnalytics			Task	s on Hold(7)		Filter	6	Completed Tasks(179)	Filter 💕
Standard					4				
Action Items			(CEEL) [• • •	Page 1 Of 1	Jump to page -/		Page 1 Of 18	Jump to page
Alerts				Workflow Reference	Title	Creation Date(From\To)*	•		Creation Date
Alers Sub Default DashBoard				PortfolioManagement7511	Initiate Request 20	14.02.18 17-44-24 IST		Workflow Reference Title	(From\To)
Market Alerts				DestalisManagement7512	Initiate Request 24	14.02.10 17.45.40.107	=	PortfolioAssessment6882	2014-01-28 18:52:50 IST
Quick View				PortfolioManagement/o12	Initiate Request 20	J14-02-18 17:40:10 (0)		Coverage	20110120
Standard				PortfolioManagement7513	Initiate Request 20	/14-02-18 17:45:47 IST	- 1	PortfolioAssessment6882Deal Enrichment	2014-01-28 18:57:41 IST
Queue		- 7		RetailLending6141	Application Input 20	14-03-17 12:51:38 IST		PortfolioAssessment8987Deal Enrichment	2014-01-29 14:51:21 IST
				RetailLending8063	Application Input 20	14-03-27 15:56:19 IST	-	PortfolioAssessment6967Proposal Structuring	2014-01-29 15:13:27 IST
Search		-	High	Priority Tasks(5)		Erine C		Coverage initiated Transfers(0)	Enur D
Quick View					4				
Action List		•••	Canal I	• • •	Page 1 Of 1	Jump to page		Page 0 Of 0	Jump to page
				Martin Defenses	T 141-	Creation Date	A	Workflow Reference	Title Priority
Queue Name	Count			Workflow Reference	litte	(From\To) ¹			
Escalated	1			PortfolioAssessment7333	eive Details from	2014-02-02 22:53:39 IST	Ξ		
Expired	21			Cov	erage				
Aging	776			PortfolioAssessment7334	erage	2014-02-02 22:54:42 IST	_		
High	5			PortfolioAssessment7335	eive Details from	2014-02-02 22:54:46 IST	-		
locay	1			000	arage				

Dashboard entities can be defined to display a BAM report, queue condition, summary of Queue, Task count for a specific queue. Maintenance screen has been provided to configure the dashboard entities which can be part of the user's dashboard and user's access rights to view the dashboard.

System support to define multiple user's dashboard and accessible dashboard is displayed in the Dashboard section of the left tree view Pan. On selecting the specific dashboard, the corresponding linked dashboard entities will be displayed in the Landing page section as show in the above screenshot.

1.2.1 Dashboard Maintenance:

Dashboard maintenance screen allows the user to configure the entities which can be part of the user's dashboard. You can launch the maintenance screen by selecting the "Origination->Maintenance->Dashboard" in the left pan or use the "ORDDSHMT" function id in the fast path menu.



Image: Sequence Number Queue Type Queues Report Id Fields Actions Mapping Details Image:	
Sequence Number Queue Type Queues Report Id Fields Actions Mapping Details 7 1 Queue ASSIGNED CREATEDDATE,WF_1 ACQUIRE,COPY,STA Mapping Details	
7 1 Queue - ASSIGNED CREATEDDATE,WF_I ACQUIRE,COPY,STA Mapping Details	*
2 Queue - ACQUIRED CREATEDDATE,WF_I COPY,RELEASE,STA Mapping Details	
3 Queue - PENDING CREATEDDATE,WF_I RESUME Mapping Details	=
4 Queue V COMPLETED CREATEDDATE,WF_f Mapping Details	
5 Queue v HIGH CREATEDDATE,WF_f STATUS Mapping Details	
6 Queue TRANDEVAPP WF_REF_NO,TITLE,II ACQUIRE,ESCALATE Mapping Details	-

In this screen, you are required to specify the following details:

Dashboard Id

Specify a unique identification code for the dashboard.

Dasboard Descirption

Specifiy the detailed description for the dashboard

Main Menu

Sepcify the main menu under which the dashboard needs to be displayed.

Language Code

Specify the language code

Sequence Number

Specify the sequence order number to display the entieies in the dasboard. Systrem will dispaly the entities in the specified order.

Queue Type

Specify the type of the entities which has been associated with the dashboard. The supported entities are BAM reports, Queue, summary and count

- BAM reports : select this option when a BAM report is associated
- Queue : select this option when a Queue id is associated
- Summary : select this option when a Queue summary is associated
- Count : select this option when a queue count summary is associated

Queues

Specify the valid queue id which has been already defined in the queue definition. It is applicable only queue type as Queue, summary and count.



Report Id

Sepcify the valid Report id which has been already defined in the BAM report. It is applicatble only queue type as BAM report.

Fields

Specify the fileds which needs to displayed in the dashboard view

Actions

Speficy the action which can be performed from the dashboard. Acqurie task, release task, reassign task, hold task, resume task, renew task are available to associate.

Mapping fields

System launches a new window to specify / customize the fields and actions which can be performed in the dashboard as shown below



In this screen, you are required to specify the following details:

Available Fields

System displays the list of field attributes which are available to opt in the dashboard. You can select the fields from the list by using the ">" "<" buttons. The selected fields will be moved to "Selected fields" section.

Available Actions

System displays the list of action which are available to opt in the dashboard. You can select the fields from the list by using the ">" "<" buttons. The selected fields will be moved to "Selected action" section



Selected Fields

User selected fields from the available fields. The selected fields will be displayed in the dashboard.

Selected Actions

User selected actions from the available fields. The selected action will be available in the dashboard to perform.

1.2.2 Dashboard Role Maintenance:

Dashboard role maintenance allows you to specify the users who can access the dashboard from the dashboard menu section. System allows selecting specific role / user from the selection window to provide access to the dashboard. In case a role is selected, the users who are associated to those specific roles can view the dashboard and perform the action.

Origination Dashboard Role Main	tenance	_ ×
🖹 New 🖹 Copy 🗟 Close 🔒 U	nlock 🖶 Print 🗟 Enter Query	
Dashboard Id DEFAU	T Description Default DashBoard	
📢 🖣 1 Of 1 🕨 🕜		+ =
Map To User / Role Id	Default	^
Role - ALLROLES		
User 🚽 DEALVIEWER		
		*
•		•
Maker DEMO001	Date Time: 2011-01-04 23:42:29	
Mod No 8	Record Status Open	Exit
	Authorization Status Authorized	

In this screen, you are required to specify the following details:

Dashboard Id

Specify the dashboard identification to define the access rights

Description

Dashboard description. It is populated when a dasboard id is selected

Map to

Specify the associate / mapping attribute for the dashboard.



- Role In case a role is assciated / mapped to the dashboard
- User in case a user is associated / mapped to the dashboard

User / Role Id

Specify the user id / role id from the LOV to mapp / associate the dashboard. In case users has been selected, the dashboard is accessible only for that specific users. In case role has been selected, the dashbord is accessible to all users who are associated to that specific role

Default

Specify the dashboard as default dashboard to that specific user / role.

1.3 BAM Dashboard

Origination module provides a facility to business administrator to monitor the task status and process specific statistical information through the customized BAM (Business activity monitoring) reports. Multiple user defined BAM reports are grouped in BAM dashboard and available to view and analysis the statistical data to improve the business.

Brack: See Plane: 2011-01-04 Seeson Time: 01-00 04 Wordsr Heg Logand User: DEMO202 See Off ORDBAAMMINF Free Plane: See Plane: 2011-01-04 Seeson Time: 01-00 04 Wordsr Heg Logand User: DEMO202 See Off ORDBAAMMINF Free View Area is too small to represent the current data.										
Home Interaction Custome Workfor Table Search Image: Report Application Application Baskboard Image: Report 2 Image: Report 3 Image: Report 4 Image: Report 4 <t< td=""><td>ORACLE</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>Branc</td><td>oh:<u>000</u> Date:2</td><td>2011-01-04 Sess</td><td>ion Time : (</td><td>a: 01:08:04 <u>Window</u> <u>Help</u> Logged User : <u>DEMO002</u> <u>Sign Off</u> ORDBAMMT</td><td></td></t<>	ORACLE				Branc	oh: <u>000</u> Date:2	2011-01-04 Sess	ion Time : (a: 01:08:04 <u>Window</u> <u>Help</u> Logged User : <u>DEMO002</u> <u>Sign Off</u> ORDBAMMT	
Search Manager Report Manager Report Application # Application Bit Dashboard The view area is too smal to represent the current data. Bit Dashboard The view area is too smal to represent the current data. Bit Dashboard The view area is too smal to represent the current data. Bit Dashboard The view area is too smal to represent the current data. Bit Dashboard The view area is too smal to represent the current data. Bit Dashboard The view area is too smal to represent the current data. Bit Dashboard The view area is too smal to represent the current data. Bit Dashboard The view area is too smal to represent the current data. Bit Dashboard The view area is too smal to represent the current data. Bit Dashboard The view area is too smal to represent the current data. Bit Dashboard The view area is too smal to represent the current data. Bit Dashboard The view area is too smal to represent the current data. Bit Dashboard The view area is too smal to represent the current data. Bit Dashboard The view area is too smal to represent the current data. Bit Dashboard The view area is too smal to represent the current data. Bit Dashboard The view a	Home Interactions Customer	Workflow	Tasks F	Preferences						
Cuick Search Application Application It Origination Dashboard It Origination It origination	Search	•	(Process Overview Repor	t j				Manager Report 1	
Application # Application Application BIP DashBoard BIP DA	Quick Search		*							- 1
Application B Orgination Bashboard B OF Dashboard B OF Dash	Application #	٩		Pr	ocess Cla	assificatio	on	Â	i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	
Coligination Desbboard Conservativitia Conservativitia Conservativitia Conservativitia Conservativitia Count Of Tasks Count Of Count Of Tasks Count Of Tasks Count O	Application			Number of instances	in each process	5			E	
Dashboard	Origination			The view a	rea is too small to	represent the cur	rent data.			
BIP DashBoard IIII IIIII IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII	Dashboard		=	1-1-1-1-1-		1 1 1	- 1 - 1 - 1		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
In CooseAnalytia In Analyse Report 2 IsocaseAnalytia Admin Dahboard Fault Manager Report 2 IsocaseAnalytia Standard Standard Altion Items Altion Items Altion Items Altis Sub Court Of Tasks IsocaseAnalytia IsocaseAnalytia IsocaseAnalytia File Applications IsocaseAnalytia Standard Altion Items Altis Sub Curce View Curce View Control Contr	BIP DashBoard			•				•		
Exposure Analysis Exposure Analysis Exposure Analysis Exposure Analysis Exposure Count Of Tasks If I	ProcessAnalytics			Manager Report 2					User Performence Report	
Fault Monitor Fault Meeport Fault M	Admin Dashodard Exposure Analysis									
Count of Tasks Manager Databaad Standard Monitor Express Report Monitor Express Dashboard Cell Out of tasks Monitor Express Report Monitor Express Dashboard Cell Out of tasks Monitor Express Dashboard Cell Out of tasks Monitor Express Report Monitor Express Dashboard Count of tasks Monitor Express Dashboard Monitor Express Dashbo	Fault Monitor				Count C	of Tasks		-	Liser Performance	
Ist of Users User Specific Dashboard → List of Users User Specific Dashboard → List of Users User Specific Dashboard → Atsis → Atsis → Atsis III → Atsis IIII → Atsis IIII → Atsis IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII	Faulted Applications				Count	// Idsks			User Performance	
User Id △ User Name User	Manager Dashboard			List Of Users					Processes in which the user is working on	
Standard Standard Cettoous	Standard User Specific Dashboard			User Id 📥	User Name	User Manager	Home Branch			
Addon Itams Addon	Standard			C DEMO00	DEMO USER	DEMO002	000		The view area is too small to represent the current data.	
Aleris Sub Aleris Sub Quick View Action List Cource View Cource V	Action Items			C DEMO001	DEMO USER 1	DEMO002	000			
Actor List Sub Actor List Sub Actor List Sub Actor List Sub Courte View Manne Court Sub Sub Sub Sub Sub Sub Sub Sub Sub Sub	Alerts							r	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Quick View Conduction Used Action List Carlow Queue Name Count Queue Name Count Queue Name Count Queue Name Count PENDING EXPIRED PHDING EXPIRED Or of participation Process Usew Pending 776 High 5 Today 1	Alerts Sub			User Specific Report					Monitor Express Report	
Action List Emilie Counce Queue Name Count Queue Name Count Collabel 1 Explied 21 Aging 776 High 5 Today 1	Quick View		1.1							1
Image: Complexity of the comple	Action List									
Ourse Name Count Ourse Outputted Outputted Monitor Express Dashboard Esolated 1 Explexid 21 Ading 778 Hgh 6 Today 1				ACQUIRED		COMPLETED		D	Summary Process View Fault Report	
Ecolated 1 Expired 21 Aging 776 High 5 Today 1 Today	Queue Name	Cour	nt				noop cabelor	=	Monitor Express Dashboard	
Expland 21 Process Summary 1 Aging 778 1 1	Escalated	1		DENDING		EVDIDED		_		
Aging 778 To Service and Aging 778 To Service	Expired	21		PENDING the Group	abels.	EXPIRED	aroup Lapers.		Process Summary 🖓 Top 5 Faulted Processes	
High 5 Today 1	Aging	776		are aroup .	cabela.			-	Top 5 Processes by Avg Completio Process Usage	
Today 1	High	5		•				- F		
	Today	1								

The accessible dashboards are available in the "Dashboard" section under "Process Analysis". The selected BAM dashboard will be displayed in the "Landing Page" window.

User can view the individual reports by clicking the "Blow UP" button available in the dashboard BAM reports. The maximized "Monitoring express dashboard" is shown below.



ORACLE'						Brand	h: <u>000</u>	Date : 2011	-01-04 9	ession Time	: 00:0	33:44 Window Help Logged User : DEMO002 Sign Off	
Home Interactions Customer	Workflow	Tasks F	referenc	es									
Search	-	-	Monitor	Express Repo	rt								-
Quick Search													
Application #	٩		Su	mmary P	rocess	/iew Fau	lt Report	Мо	nitor	Expre	ess	Bashboard	
E Origination			Sele	ect Timetrame	e tor R	eport:							
		=					_						
ashooard			Pro	cess Summar	у						ų.	Top 5 Faulted Processes	
BIP DashBoard			Co	mposite Name	Ver.	Component	. Runnir	a Comple	te InCor	plete Fa	ults		
ProcessAnalytics				RPProcess	2.0	CreateCustBF	EL 5	0	0	0			
Admin Dashboard			Crez	ateCorporateCu	1.0	CreateCorpor	at 0	1	0	ō		The view area is too small to show the Group Labels.	
Exposure Analysis			Cro	teCorporateCu	2.0	CreateCorpor		-	0				
Fault Monitor			Crea	teCorporateCu	2.0	CreateCorpor		6	0	<u>×</u>			_
Faulted Applications			Crea	hecorporatecu	5.0	CreateCorpor	at 9	0	0	2			_
Stenderd			Crea	itecorporatecu	5.0	CreateCorpor	at 4	0	0	<u>u</u>			
User Specific Dashboard			1	and and and		III	des 1				F		
Standard												- ···	
Action Items			Гор	5 Processes I	by Avg	Completion	Time					Process Usage	
Alerts				4	526.263	,							
Alerts Sub		*		600.00									
Quick View	Col		In Minutes	500.00 - 400.00 - 300.00 - 200.00 -		0.517	0 133	0 133					J
Contract of				100.00 -		0.317	0.155	0.155				5%	
reired	21			0.00	40	20	20	10	5.0	- 20	-	81%	
kpired alas	21				4.U otal	S.U Creat	2.0 Creat	Creat	S.U Croat	2.0			
yng iab	8			N.	atail	Creat I	Creat	Creat	Creat	Creat			
ngri	4			N	c coll	creat	creat	Greatin	credt	creat			

1.3.1 BAM Report Maintenance:

BAM report maintenance screen allows the user to configure and associate the predefined BAM report to the Origination menu. You can launch the maintenance screen from the menu by selecting "Origination->Maintenance->BAM" or use the "ORDBAMMT" function Id to launch the screen from the fast path.

🔶 BAN	1 Maintenance		_ ×
≡ <mark>∔</mark> New		se 🧛 Unlock 🖶 Print 🗟 Enter Query	
	Report Id Report Description Url Report Parameters	REPORT10 Exposure Currency Dashboard /reportserver/default. jsp? Event=viewReport& ReportDef=108&Butt ons=False	
	Maker ARU1	Date Time: 2011-01-04 11:49:00	
	Checker ARU1	Date Time: 2011-01-04 11:49:01	Exit
	Mod No 1	Record Status Open	
		Authorization Status Authorized	

In this screen, you are required to specify the following details:



Report Id

Specific a unique reference for the BAM report.

Report Description

Specify a detailed description for the BAM report. It will be displayed in the report header while configuring the report in the BAM dashboard

Url

Specify the valid BAM report URL which will be launched while selecting the report

Report Parameters

Specify the parameters which are used for the BAM report.

1.4 Configuring Queues

A queue represents a set of human tasks that are grouped on the basis of the common characteristics they share. For instance, you could have groups based on whether the tasks have been completed, deleted or the type of transaction.

You can define the basis for grouping for each queue in the 'Queue Maintenance' screen. To invoke this screen, type 'SMDQUEMT' in the field at the top right corner of the Application tool bar and click the adjoining arrow button. The following screen is displayed:

Queue Maintenance					_ ×
🗋 New					
Queue Id *		Queue Type	Normal 🗸		^
Queue Criteria *					
Filter Column		Operator	= v Submit	Filter Value	Others
	Main Menu	Sub Menu	Description	П	
Maker Checker		Date Time: Date Time:	Mod Record Sta Authorization Sta	no atus	Exit

In this screen, you are required to specify the following details:

Queue ID

Specify a unique identification code for the queue.



Queue Type

Indicate the type of tasks that should be displayed for the queue you are defining. Select one of the following values from the adjoining drop-down list:

- Editable tasks: Tasks where the user will be allowed to modify existing data.
- Read-only Tasks: Tasks where the user can only view existing information.
- Normal Tasks All the tasks for which the user has rights (editable/read-only)
- Supervisor All tasks pertaining to the all the subordinates of the user.
- Current stage The current stage of a process instance in which the user has performed at least one task.

Queue Criteria

Specify the criteria to be used to filter all tasks. The criteria specified here and the queue type you have indicated earlier determine the tasks that are displayed under each queue.

You can also associate Function IDs to queues by specifying them here. If you do so, only those Function IDs that have been associated can be accessed by the user. If there is no such association in the criteria, all Function IDs will be made available for the queue.

Filter Column

Indicate the basis for filtering the tasks.

Operator

Indicate the operator.

Filter Value

Specify the value to be considered for filtering.

Others

If 'Filter Value' chosen is 'Others', you can specify the value here.

Language Code

Indicate the language code to be used for the queue ID.

Main Menu

Indicate the name of the group under which the queue should be placed.

Sub-Menu

Specify the name for the queue. This will appear under the Main Menu.

Description

Specify a relevant description that will be displayed when you point the mouse on the Sub-Menu.



Tasks Image: Control of the second secon	Home Interactions Customer Workflow Tasks	rs Preferences Change Branch Options Window Help Sign Off
■ Search +ALL ● Adult Reference Transaction * (Tasks 🗲	
Standard Workflow Reference Transaction Title Assignee Group Assignee Customer Amount Creation Date Prior Assigned(5) IslamicijarahAccount1352 Application Entry ALLROLES 2012-04-30 111142718T Completed(0) IslamicijarahAccount1574 Application Entry ALLROLES 2012-06-10 1511444.918T Supervisor(0) IslamicijarahAccount1575 Application Entry ALLROLES 2012-06-10 151446.918T ImportL_CProcessFlow1587 Receive and Verify ALLROLES.CCSEROLE 2012-06-11 121104.15T ImportL_CProcessFlow1687 Receive and Verify ALLROLES.CCSEROLE 2012-06-18 193553.1ST	Search ALL	Task List
Assignments Signments Complete(it) Complete(it) Complete(it) Complete(it) Complete(it) Complete(it) Complete(it) Complete(it) Complete(it) IslamicIjarahAccount1362 Application Entry ALLROLES 2012-06-10 15:16:46.IST Complete(it) IslamicIjarahAccount1575 Application Entry ALLROLES 2012-06-10 15:16:46.IST Complete(it) ImportLCProcessFlow1687 Receive and Verify ALLROLES.CCSEROLE 2012-06-11 12:11:04.IST ImportLCProcessFlow1687 Receive and Verify ALLROLES.CCSEROLE 2012-06-11 12:11:04.IST ImportLCProcessFlow1687 Receive and Verify ALLROLES.CCSEROLE 2012-06-13 1955.53.IST	Standard → Acquired(0)	Workflow Reference Transaction Reference Title Assignee Group Assignee Users Customer Name Amount (FromTo)* Creation Date (FromTo)*
Pending(U) Supervisor(0) IslamicijarahAccount1574 Application Entry ALLROLES 2012-05-10 151846191 IslamicijarahAccount1575 Application Entry ALLROLES 2012-05-10 IslamicijarahAccount1575 Application Entry ALLROLES.CCSEROLE 2012-05-11 ImportLCProcessFlow1587 Receive and Ventry ALLROLES.CCSEROLE 2012-05-11 InportLCProcessFlow1687 Receive and Ventry ALLROLES.CCSEROLE 2012-05-11 InportLCProcessFlow1687 Receive and Ventry ALLROLES.CCSEROLE 2012-05-11 InportLCProcessFlow1687 Receive and Ventry ALLROLES.CCSEROLE 1955:53.IST	→ Assigned(5) → Completed(0)	IslamicijarahAccount1362 Application Entry ALLROLES 2012-04-30 11:14:27 IST 11:14:27 IST 11:14:27 IST
IslamicIjarahAccount1575 Application Entry ALLROLES 2012-06-10 ImportLCProcessFlow1587 Receive and Verify ALLROLES,CCSEROLE 2012-05-11 ImportLCProcessFlow1687 Receive and Verify ALLROLES,CCSEROLE 2012-05-15 ImportLCProcessFlow1687 Receive and Verify ALLROLES,CCSEROLE 2012-05-16 ImportLCProcessFlow1687 LC Import ALLROLES,CCSEROLE 19:55:53:IST	→ Pending(0) → Supervisor(0)	IslamicijarahAccount1574 Application Entry ALLROLES 2012-05-10 15:16:46 IST 15:16:46 IST 15:16:46 IST 15:16:46 IST
ImportLCProcessFlow1587 Receive and Verify LCCImport ALLROLES,CCSEROLE 2012-05-11 12:11:04:157 ImportLCProcessFlow1687 Receive and Verify LC Import ALLROLES,CCSEROLE 2012-05-18 19:55:33:IST		IslamicijarahAccount1575 Application Entry ALLROLES 2012-05-10 15:40:50 IST
☐ ImportLCProcessFlow1687 Receive and Verify ALLROLES,CCSEROLE 2012-05-16 LC Import 19:55:53 IST		ImportLCProcessFlow1587 Receive and Verify ALLROLES, CCSEROLE 2012-05-11 LC Import 12:11:04 IST
		ImportLCProcessFlow1687 Receive and Verify ALLROLES.CCSEROLE 2012:05-16 LC Import 19:55:53 IST
Task History	1	Task History

Workflow places the tasks that meet the criteria specified for each queue as shown below:

1.5 Configuring Sub-Stages

In the BPEL workflow layer, there are several points at which human tasks are generated. These tasks can be further divided into sub-stages which have entry conditions, exit outcomes etc. You can capture these details in the 'Task Sub Stage Maintenance' screen. You can invoke this screen by typing 'SMDSUBST' in the field at the top right corner of the Application tool bar and clicking the adjoining arrow button. The following screen is displayed:

Function Id * Image: Sequence Number * Sub Stage Function Id * Sub Stage Name * Outcome list * Reject To Stage Image: Sequence Number * Sub Stage Function Id * Sub Stage Name * Outcome list * Reject To Stage Image: Sequence Number * Sub Stage Function Id * Sub Stage Name * Outcome list * Reject To Stage Image: Sequence Number * Sub Stage Function Id * Sub Stage Name * Outcome list * Reject To Stage Image: Sequence Number * Sub Stage Function Id * Sub Stage Name * Outcome list * Reject To Stage Image: Sub Stage Function Id * Sub Stage Name * Outcome list * Reject To Stage Image: Sub Stage Function Id * Sub Stage Name * Outcome list * Reject To Stage Image: Sub Stage Function Id * Sub Stage Name * Outcome list * Reject To Stage Image: Sub Stage Function Id * Sub Stage Name * Outcome list * Reject To Stage Image: Sub Stage Function Id * Sub Stage Name * Outcome list * Reject To Stage Image: Sub Stage Function Id * Sub Stage Name * Outcome list * Reject To Stage Image: Sub Stage Function Id * Sub Stage Name * Outcome list * Reject To Stage Image: Sub Stage Function Id * Sub Stage Name * Outcome list * Reject To Stage Image: Sub Stage Function Id * Sub Stage Name * Outcome list * Reject To Stage Image: Sub Stage Function Id * Sub Stage Name * Outcome list * Reject To Stage Image: Sub Stage Function Id * Sub Stage Name * Outcome list * Reject To Stage Image: Sub Stage Functid * Sub Stage Name * Outcome list * Reject To						New
Maker Date Time: Checker Date Time:					ld *	Function
Sequence Number * Sub Stage Function Id * Sub Stage Name * Outcome list * Reject To Stage * • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •		+				I∢ ∢ 10f1
Maker Date Time: Checker Date Time:		Reject To Stage	Outcome list *	Sub Stage Name *	Sub Stage Function Id *	Sequence Number *
Maker Date Time: Checker Date Time:						
K Date Time: Checker Date Time:						1
Maker Date Time: Checker Date Time:						
Maker Date Time: Checker Date Time:						
Maker Date Time: Checker Date Time:	~					1
Maker Date Time: Checker Date Time:				41 		<u>×1</u>
Maker Date Time: Checker Date Time:						
Maker Date Time: Checker Date Time:						
Checker Date Time:				Date Time:		Maker
Date time.				Data Timar		Checker
	Exit					
Mod No Record Status				cord Status	Rec	Mod No

You are required to maintain the following details in this screen:



Function ID

Specify the Function ID associated with the human task for which you are defining sub-stages. The adjoining option list displays all valid function IDs available in the system. You can select the appropriate one.

Seq No

The system displays the sequence number for the current sub-stage.

Sub Stage Function Id

Specify the Function ID for the sub-stage. The adjoining option list displays all valid function IDs available in the system. You can select the appropriate one. The roles and the screen displayed for the sub-stage are fetched accordingly. This can be the same as the main Function ID for the task.

Sub Stage Name

Specify a unique name for the sub-stage.

Outcome List

Specify the possible outcomes allowed for this sub-stage. You can have any of the following:

- MOVENXT: If this is chosen, the current Function ID screen will be closed and the process will move on to the next sub-stage in sequential order
- AUTOMOVENXT: If this option is selected, the task will go to the next stage. The next sub-stage will be acquired automatically (provided the user has the relevant rights). The Function ID of the next sub-stage will be displayed in the screen.
- MOVEPREV: If this is chosen, the task will be moved to the previous stage mentioned or to the sub-stage sequence number specified in the 'Reject To Stage' field.

To facilitate this configuration, you need to map the first sub-stage to the Function ID of the human task. Also, you will be allowed to select only the 'MOVEPREV' option for the last sub-stage you have defined.

Entry Rule

Specify the conditions that need to be fulfilled for this sub-stage to be initiated. The specification is done in the same syntax as that for the queue configuration. If the criteria specified are satisfied, then the transaction comes to this sub-stage. If not, it moves to the next sub-stage.

Reject To Stage

This is the sub-stage to which a task is sent to in case the task is rejected at any point in the substage process. If you do not specify any value for this, a rejected task will be sent to the previous level.



1.6 Checking Duplicate Transactions

During initiation of a process flow, when you enter and save the data, the system checks for duplicate transactions among all authorized and unauthorized tasks carried out on the same day. This check is performed based on a list of fields maintained for every transaction type. If duplicate transactions exist, the system will display an override message containing the Workflow reference numbers of all the matching tasks, as shown below:



You can however, override the message and continue with the current process.

You can define the fields that need to be matched for duplication in the 'Function Description Maintenance' screen. You can invoke this screen by typing 'SMDFNDSC' in the field at the top right corner of the Application tool bar and clicking the adjoining arrow button.



Function Description	<u>}</u>						- ×
🚹 New							
Function Id Module List User Function Id Type String	 Maintenance Tanking Re Dual Autho Remarks F Excel Expo Multi Branc Field Log F 	equired rization Required rt Required th Access Required	Nan Tyj Menu He	Pe Form ad MODULE Available Automatic aware Log Event Auto Autho Head Offic Duplicate t	End of Day Access rization 9 Function ask check		
Function Description Id 10f1 Language Code *	UNCTIONS AND REP Go Main Menu	Sub Menu 1	Sub Menu 2	Balloon Help	Description	D	+-=
Field Properties							
Maker Checker		Date Ti Date Ti	ime:	Recor Authorizatio	Mod No d Status n Status		Exit

In this screen, you are required to indicate the following details to facilitate checking for duplicate transactions:

Duplicate Check

Check this box to ensure that a validation is carried out to track duplication of transactions.

Field Name

Specify the field that should be the basis on which transaction duplication is checked.

Enabled

Check the box against each field whose values you want the system to compare across transactions.

1.7 Enabling User Rights

As mentioned earlier, each human task has a Function ID and the roles assigned to the Function ID are inherited by the task when it is initiated. A user, with access rights to the Function ID for the task, can either view the details of the task or perform edit operations on it.

You can define these rights in the 'Process Stage Rights' screen. To invoke this screen, type 'SMDROLDF' in the field at the top right corner of the Application tool bar and click the adjoining arrow button. In the 'Role Maintenance' screen that is displayed, click 'Process Rights' button. The following screen is displayed:



Process Stage Right	S	_ ×
Process		
I I I 10f1 D F I	90	
Role Function	Editable	<u>^</u>
		11 PS
		Ok Exit

Specify the following details in the screen:

Role Function

Specify the Function ID for which you wish to define rights. The adjoining option list displays all valid function IDs available in the system. You can select the appropriate one.

Editable

Check this box if you wish to allow editing of data for this task/Function ID. If you do not check this box, the user can only view details for the role function specified earlier.

You can, therefore, use this screen to allow only editing or only modifying rights for a user for different role functions.



1.8 Maintaining Credit Rating Rules

You can maintain a set of questions along with a possible set of answers with associated scores, to assess the credit rating of a prospective loan customer. You can also calculate the risk factor associated with the loan and arrive at a credit grade based on the scores obtained.

You can maintain these details in 'Rule Details' screen. You can invoke this screen by typing 'ORDRULMT' in the field at the top right corner of the Application tool bar and clicking the adjoining arrow button.

♦ Rule Details				_ ×
🔚 Save 🐠 Hold				
Rule Account Descriptio	Id *		Type Retail	•
Main Risk Factor				
Question Details				
I≪ 10f1 ▶ №	Go			+ - =
Question Id *	Category	Question		^
V 1				
Answer Details				*
I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	Go			
Sequence Number *	Possible Answer Score			^
				Ψ.
Rating Auto Decision				
Maker	Date	e Time:		
	Date	e Time:		Cancel
Mod No	Record Authorization	Status Status		

You can specify the following details in this screen:

Rule Id

Specify a unique identification for the credit rating rule.



Account Description

Specify a suitable description for the credit rating rule.

Туре

Select the type of the loan from the following options available:

- Retail
- Corporate

1.8.1 Main Tab

You can maintain the following details in this tab:

Question Details

Question Id

The question Id is automatically generated by the system.

Category

Select the category to which the question belongs from the option list provided.

Question

Specify the question to be asked to the prospective customer to derive the credit rating score.

Answer Details

Sequence Number

The sequence number is automatically generated by the system.

Possible Answer

Specify a set of possible answers to be associated with a question.

Score

Specify the score associated with an answer.



1.8.2 Risk Factor Tab

You can specify the risk details associated with the loan and also indicate the formula for calculating the credit score in this tab.

Rule Details						_ ×
🔚 Save 🍈 Hold						
Rule Account Descripti	ld *		Type Retail	•		
Main Risk Factor						
Risk Factor						
🕅 🖣 10f1 🕨 🕅 📃				[+ - =	
Risk Id *	Account Description	Formula			*	
		Formula				
					~	
Rating Auto Decision						_
Maker		Date Time:				
Checker		Date Time:			Ca	ncel
Mod No	F	Record Status				
	Authori	ization Status				

You can specify the following details here:

Risk Id

Specify a unique identifier for the credit risk being maintained.

Description

Specify a suitable description for the credit risk.



1.8.2.1 Specifying Formula Details

You can specify the formula to calculate the credit score by clicking the 'Formula' button corresponding to a credit risk entry in Risk Factor tab. The 'Formula' screen is displayed where you can specify the condition for calculating the credit score associated with a risk condition.

♦ Formula				_ ×
I				+ - =
Sequence Number *	Condition	Result	D	
Elements Functions Braces Operators Logical Operators	Accept			<u>×</u>
				Ok Exit

You can specify the following details here:

Sequence Number

The sequence number is automatically generated by the system.

Condition

The condition specified using the Elements, Functions, Operators etc. gets displayed here.

Result

Specify the result to be associated with the condition specified.

Elements

Specify the data elements to be used to define the formula for credit score calculation or select the element from the option list provided.

Functions

Select the mathematical function to be used to define the formula from the drop-down list provided.

Braces

Select the opening or the closing brace from the drop-down list provided, to define the credit score calculation formula.



Operators

Select the mathematical operator to be used to define the credit score calculation formula. You can select '+', '-', '*', or '/'.

Logical Operators

Select the logical operator to be used to define the credit score calculation formula. You can select '<', '>', '=', '<>', '>=', '<=', 'AND' or 'OR'.

1.8.3 Specifying Credit Grades

You can maintain different credit grades based on the credit scores obtained. Click 'Rating' button in Rule Details screens to invoke the 'Rating' screen, where you can maintain these details.

◆ Rating		×
Rating		
🕅 🚽 10f1 🐌 🕅 🛛 🕞	+ - =	
Sequence Number * Score Grade	-	
	-	
		1
	Ok Ca	incel

You can specify the following details here:

Sequence Number

The sequence number is automatically generated by the system.

Score

Specify the score associated with a credit risk.

Grade

Specify the credit grade based on the score obtained.



1.8.4 Specifying Auto Decision Details

While creating a loan, you need to decide whether the applicant is eligible to receive a loan from the bank. Auto Decision feature in Oracle FLEXCUBE decides whether to approve or reject an application. It also gives the stipulations or reasons for the decision.

Auto Decision

 X

 Auto Decision

 Auto Decision

 Serial Number * Score

 Credit Decision

 Ok

 Cancel

 C

To use this feature, you need to maintain the Auto Decision details in 'Auto Decision' screen.

Specify the following details:

Serial Number

The system displays the serial number.

Score

Specify the maximum credit score of the loan applicant for the system to make the corresponding auto decision.

Auto Decision

Specify the auto decision to be made for each credit score. You can maintain the maximum credit scores for each of the following decisions:

- Auto Approved
- Recommend Approval
- Recommend Reject
- Auto Rejected

While creating a loan, based on the applicant's credit score and auto decision mapping maintained in here, the system decides whether to approve, reject, recommend approval or recommend rejection of the application.



1.9 Viewing Credit Rule Summary

You can view a summary of the credit rules in 'Rule Maintenance' screen. You can also query for a particular record based on desired search criteria.

You can invoke this screen by typing 'ORSRULMT' in the field at the top right corner of the Application tool bar and clicking the adjoining arrow button.

🔶 Rule	e Maintenance						_ ×
	Authorization Status	*		Re	cord Status	*	
	Rule Id		×:				
		Q Search	Advanced Search			Refresh	Reset
Records	s per page 15 💌 🚺 🖣	1 Of 1 🕟 🕅	Go				
	Authorization Status		Record Status	Ru	ile Id	Account Description	~
<							>
							Exit

You can specify any of the following details to search for a record:

- Authorization Status
- Record Status
- Rule Id

Click 'Search' button to search for a record based on the search criteria specified. You can double click a desired record to view the detailed screen.



1.10 Maintaining Credit Ratios

You can maintain the rules to calculate the credit ratios in 'Credit Ratio Maintenance' screen. You can invoke this screen by typing 'ORDRATMT' in the field at the top right corner of the Application tool bar and clicking the adjoining arrow button.

🔶 Credit Ratio Maintenance	e					_ ×
🔚 Save 🍈 Hold						
Group Id Description	1 *		Туре	Retail -		
Ratio Id						
🕅 🖣 10f1 🕨 🕅 🔛					+ - =	
Ratio Id *	Description	Formula			*	
		Formula				
					-	
Maker		Date Time				
Checker						
		Date Time:			Can	icel
Mod No	Re	ecord Status				
	Authoriz	ation Status				

You can specify the following details in this screen:

Group Id

Specify a unique identification code for the ratio group.

Description

Specify a suitable description for the ratio group.

Туре

Specify the type of the loan. You can choose one of the following loan types:

- Retail
- Corporate

Ratio Id

Specify a unique identification for the credit ratio being maintained.

Description

Specify a suitable description for the credit ratio.



1.10.1 Specifying Formula Details

You can specify the formula to calculate the credit ratio by clicking the 'Formula' button corresponding to a ratio Id. The 'Formula' screen is displayed where you can specify the condition for calculating the credit ratio associated with a ratio Id.

🔶 : Formula Wizard		×
Formula Image: Actual After Image: Actual After		E
Elements Index Functions Braces Operators		•
	Ok Ca	ncel

You can specify the following details here:

Ratio Type

Select the type of the ratio being maintained, from the drop down list provided. The following options are available:

- Stated Before
- Stated After
- Actual Before
- Actual After

Condition

The condition specified using the Elements, Functions, Operators etc. gets displayed here.

Elements

Specify the data elements to be used to define the formula for credit ratio calculation or select the element from the option list provided.

Functions

Select the mathematical function to be used to define the formula from the drop-down list provided.



Braces

Select the opening or the closing brace from the drop-down list provided, to define the credit ratio calculation formula.

Operators

Select the mathematical operator to be used to define the credit ratio calculation formula. You can select '+', '-', '*', or 'l'.

1.11 Viewing Credit Ratio Summary

You can view a summary of the credit ratios in 'Credit Ratio Maintenance' screen. You can also query for a particular record based on desired search criteria.

You can invoke this screen by typing 'ORSRATMT' in the field at the top right corner of the Application tool bar and clicking the adjoining arrow button.

Credit Ratio Maintenance				_ ×
Authorization Status	*	Record Status		
Group Id	×			
O. Constat	Advanced Coorch		Bofrach	Posot
Records per page 15 V II 1 Of 1	Advanced Search		Relicon	Reset
Authorization Status	Record Status	Group Id	Description	~
2				~
				Fuit
				Exit

You can specify any of the following details to search for a record:

- Authorization Status
- Record Status
- Group Id

Click 'Search' button to search for a record based on the search criteria specified. You can double click a desired record to view the detailed screen.



1.12 User load limit Maintenance

Origination module allows the Business administrator to define the load limit for users based on the complexity of the task and the capability of the user. System internally assigns the task to the available user based on the maintenance.

You can launch the maintenance screen from the menu by selecting "Origination->Maintenance->User Load Limit" or use the "ORDLODDT" function Id to launch the screen from the fast path.

User Load Limit Maintenance		_ × _
🖹 New 🖹 Copy 🖹 Close 🔒 Unlock	Print 🔁 Enter Query	
Process Code * CAMP Function Id * ORDLPAPP		
📢 🖣 1 Of 1 🕨 😡		+ =
User Id * Forenoon Limit	Afternoon Limit	*
V 101T29513 10	15	
		~
•	III	•
Maker DEMO002	Date Time: 2011-01-04 18:02:33	
Checker DEMO002	Date Time: 2011-01-04 18:02:35	Fuit
Mod No 1	Record Status Open	EXIL
Aut	thorization Status Authorized	

In this screen, you are required to specify the following details:

Process code

Specify the process code to which the user load limit is going to be maintained

Function Id

Specify the function id to which the user load limit is going to be maintained for the above mentioned process code

User id

Specify the user code to whom the load limit is going to be maintianed

Forenoon Limit

Specify the task limit which can be assigned to the user in in the forenoon session

Afternoon Limit

Specify the task limit which can be assigned to the user in in the afternoon session



1.13 Raito template definition – Maintenance

Origination module has the capability of computing the ratio elements based on the financial details provided by the customer in a preformatted excel document. You can define multiple excel document template format using SDE elements for industry and financial statement combination.

After the successful definition, press the "Generate" button to generate the financial template document.

\diamond	Ratio Template Definit	tion							_	×
- -	New 🖹 Copy 🖹 C	ilose 🧛 Unlock 🖶 P	Print 🗟 Enter Query							
	Industry *	INDMYTEST	Sheet Na	me * INDMYTEST		Sheet Description	indmytest Generate			*
Wo	rksheet									
K	🖣 1 Of 1 🕨 📃	Go						+ 📰		
	Worksheet Name *	Worksheet description	Work sheet Required					*		
V	DET	de1	1							
	MY_CORPORATE_ STATEMENT	MY_CORPORATE_ STATEMENT	\checkmark							
SD	E Details							Ŧ		
M	🖣 1 Of 1 🕨 📃	Go						+ 📰		
	SDE Name *	SDE Description	Data Type * Category *	Sub Category *	SDE Type			*		
V	SDE23	sde45	Varchar 👻 Asset 🕓	GENERAL_EXP	GENERAL SDE					
										*
•									•	
	Maker TEST Checker 35258	ORG I	Date Time: 2011-01-04 14 Date Time: 2011-01-04 14	:06:51 Mod :38:59 Record Sta Authorization Sta	No 2 atus Open atus Authorized				Exit	t

In this screen, you are required to specify the following details:

Industry

Specify the unique industry code to which the Ration template is defined

Sheet name

Sepcify the excel template name to which the Ration template is defined

Sheet description

Specify the excel template detailed description

Worksheet name

Sepcify the excel sheet name to which the Ration template is defined



Worksheet description

Specify the excel sheet detailed description

Worksheet required

Specify the flag to indidcate the worksheet is requried to be part of the excel sheet

SDE Name

Select the System defined element, from the LOV, which is used to compute the financial ratio

SDE description

SDE detailed description.

Data type

Specify the data type of the SDE element. Number, Date and Varchar are supported data types.

Category

Specify the category of the SDE element. The major categories Asset, Liability, income and expense are supported.

Sub category

Specify the sub category of the SDE element . it will be used to group the SDE elements

SDE type

Display field to display the type of the System defined element.



1.13.1 Maintaining Override Details

You can maintain the formulae to verify if overrides need to be generated dynamically, in 'Override Maintenance' screen. You can invoke this screen by typing 'ORDOVDMT' in the field at the top right corner of the Application tool bar and clicking the adjoining arrow button.

🔶 Override Maintenance				_ ×
🔚 Save 🌗 Hold				
Process Code * Application Category *		E	Type Retail	•
- Stage				
				10f1 > + -
Stage * Description	2			
Overrides				
I	Go			+ - =
Sequence Number *	Condition	Error Code	Error Parameter	*
	~	25		E
				~
Elements		•		
Index				
Braces				
Operators				
				+
Maker	Dat	a Time:		,
Checker		c mile.		
	Dati	e Time:		Cancel
Mod No	Record	Status		
	Authorization	Status		

You can specify the following details in this screen:

Process Code

Specify the process code of the process for which you wish to maintain override conditions or select the process code from the option list provided.

Application Category

Specify the category to which the loan application belongs or select the application category from the option list provided.



Туре

Select the type of the loan from the following options available:

- Retail
- Corporate

Stage

Select the stage of the loan origination process from the option list provided. The various stages can be Application Entry, Application Verification, Underwriting, Loan Approval etc.

Description

Specify a suitable description for the loan origination stage.

Overrides

Here, you can capture the details of the conditions to be checked for generating override messages.

Sequence Number

The sequence number is automatically generated by the system.

Condition

The condition specified using the Elements, Functions, Operators etc. gets displayed here.

Error Code

Specify the error code to be used to generate the override message or select the error code from the option list provided.

Error Parameter

Specify the error parameter to be substituted in the override messages.

Elements

Specify the data elements to be used to define the conditions for generating override messages or select the element from the option list provided.

Functions

Select the mathematical function to be used to define the condition from the drop-down list provided.

Braces

Select the opening or the closing brace from the drop-down list provided, to define the conditions for generating override messages.

Operators

Select the mathematical operator to be used to define the conditions for generating override messages. You can select '+', '-', '*', or '/'.



Logical Operators

Select the logical operator to be used to define the conditions for generating override messages. You can select '<', '>', '=', '<>', '>=', '<=', 'AND' or 'OR'.

1.13.2 Maintaining Override Formulae

- The element corresponding to the fields in the screen can be fetched from the LOV for the field "Element".
- The possible data, or the data limits can be provided in the field "Condition".
- The formula can be drafted in the required way to manage credit guidelines and edits by making use of a predefined number of functions, arithmetic and logical operators.
- Existing error codes can be fetched using the LOV attached to the field, or a new error code can be configured using the Error Maintenance screen (CSDERMSG), if necessary.

Override Maintenance				_ ×
Process Code * Application Category *	ORRL	Туре	 ✓ New Route ④ Retail ○ Corporate 	
- Stage	ORDRLAPP			< 1of 1 ▶ +-
Overrides	rotan zoan spinoaron			
Image: Sequence Number ★ Image: I	Condition Error Code INTEREST_RATE# > 2 ORCS001 REQUESTED_AMOUN ORCS002	Error Param	eter	
Elements Index Functions Braces Operators Logical Operators				
Maker Checker Mod No	Date Time: Date Time: Record Status			Cancel

For Example:

• A new error code can be configured using the screen CSDERMSG. This error code can also be set as an override if necessary, by maintaining the error-type as 'O'.



- In the Override maintenance screen(ORDOVDMT), the process code 'ORRL' can be selected from the LOV for Retail Lending for the field "Process Code".
- A related application category, say 'RETAIL_1' is selected from the LOV for the field "Application Category".
- The override maintenance is done for all stages of the process flow. Starting with application entry stage, the process code 'ORDRLAPP' is selected from the LOV for the field "Stage".
- The Override condition can be maintained using the Formula-Assistance block as shown below.

Seq. No.	Condition	Error Code	Error Parameter
1	#INTEREST_RATE# > 25.5 OR #INTEREST_RATE# <= 5.5	ORCS001	
2	#REQUESTED_AMOUNT# >10,000,000 AND #REQUESTED_AMOUNT# <15,000,000	ORCS002	

1.14 Viewing Override Summary

You can view a summary of the overrides in 'Override Maintenance' screen. You can also query for a particular record based on desired search criteria.

You can invoke this screen by typing 'ORSOVDMT' in the field at the top right corner of the Application tool bar and clicking the adjoining arrow button.

🔶 Overr	ide Maintenance				- ×
	Authorization Status	~	Record Status	*	
	Process Code	×:	Application Category	25	
		Soarch Advanced Search		Pofrach	Reset
Records (per page 15 🗸 📊		-	rtencon	Reser
	Authorization Status	Record Status	Process Code	Application Category	~
<					>
					Exit

You can specify any of the following details to search for a record:


- Authorization Status
- Record Status
- Process Code
- Application Category

Click 'Search' button to search for a record based on the search criteria specified. You can double click a desired record to view the detailed screen.

1.15 Maintaining Document Details

You can maintain the list of documents that are required during the loan origination process, in 'Documents Verify Maintenance' screen. Document checklists are maintained for an application category and for the various stages in the origination process. You can also maintain the details of the Advices that need to be generated on completion of a stage in the process.

You can invoke 'Documents Verify Maintenance' screen by typing 'ORDDOCMT' in the field at the top right corner of the Application tool bar and clicking the adjoining arrow button.

Document verify Mainten	ance			_ ×
🔚 Save 🐠 Hold				
Process Code *		*1		<u>^</u>
Application Category *		*1		
Process Stages				
				10f1 b + -
Stage *		*1		
Stage				
Document Details				
Document Category *	Document Typ	e * Mandatory		
		Mandatory -		
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				
				-
BI Advices				
I	Go			+ - =
Report Name *	Template	Format Locale	Outcome	^
		PDF ▼ en-US ▼		
				÷
Checklist Details				
I				
Sequence Number *	Checklist Item *	Mandatory		·
☑ 1				
				+
•				•
Maker		Date Time:	Mod No	
Checker		Date Time:	Record Status	Cancel

You can specify the following details in this screen:



Process Code

Specify the process code of the process for which you wish to maintain override conditions or select the process code from the option list provided.

Application Category

Specify the category to which the loan application belongs or select the application category from the option list provided.

Stage

Select the stage of the loan origination process from the option list provided. The various stages can be Application Entry, Application Verification, Underwriting, Loan Approval etc.

Stage Title

Specify a suitable description for the loan origination stage.

Document Details

Document Category

Specify the category to which the document belongs or select the document category from the option list provided.

Document Type

Specify the type of the document or select the document type from the option list provided.

Mandatory

Select the option to indicate whether the document is mandatory or not. You can select any of the following options from the drop-down list provided:

- Mandatory
- Overridden
- Others

BI Advices

Report Name

Specify the name of the advice report to be generated on completion of the process stage.

Template

Specify the template to be used to generate the advice report.

Format

Select the format in which the advice report needs to be generated from the drop-down list provided. The following options are available:

- PDF
- RTF



Locale

Select the locale information to be used for generating the advices from the drop-down list. The following options are available:

• en-US

Out come

Specify the outcome for which the report needs to be generated.

Checklist Details

Sequence Number

The system displays the sequence number.

Checklist Item

Specify the checklist to be maintained.

Mandatory

Check this box to indicate whether the checklist is mandatory or optional.

1.16 Viewing Document Checklist Summary

You can view a summary of the document checklists and advices in 'Document Details' screen. You can also query for a particular record based on desired search criteria.

You can invoke this screen by typing 'ORSDOCMT' in the field at the top right corner of the Application tool bar and clicking the adjoining arrow button.



🔶 Doc	uments Details				_ ×
	Authorization Status	•	Record Status	•	
	Process Code	*	Application Category		
	Q	Search Advanced Search		Refresh	Reset
Records	s per page 15 🔻 📢 🔌 1 🔇	Of 1 🕨 📔 🛛 Go			
	Authorization Status	Record Status	Process Code	Application Category	*
					-
•					•
					Exit

You can specify any of the following details to search for a record:

- Authorization Status
- Record Status
- Process Code
- Application Category

Click 'Search' button to search for a record based on the search criteria specified. You can double click a desired record to view the detailed screen.

1.17 Maintaining Pricing Details

Oracle FLEXCUBE allows you to maintain pricing groups and apply a suitable pricing rule to an application category during retail loan origination. The pricing rule automatically selects the best matched loan offer for the loan application from the available offers for the application category.

You need to maintain pricing groups and define the price IDs and formulae for the group using 'Pricing Maintenance' screen.



To invoke the screen, type 'ORDPRCMT' in the field at the top right corner of the application toolbar and click the adjoining arrow button.

Pricing Details			_ ×
🔚 Save			
Price Group ID * Description		Price Type Retail -	
Pricing Details			
🕅 🖣 10f1 🕨 🕅 🗔 🖓			+ - =
Price ID * Price Description	Default Formula Offer		*
	💭 🔲 Formula Offer		
			-
Makor	Data Timo:		
Checker	Date finite.		
	Date Time:		Cancel
Mod No	Record Status		
	Authorization Status		

Specify the following details:

Pricing Group ID

Specify a unique name to identify the price group.

Description

Specify a brief description of the price group.

Price Type

Specify the price type associated with the price group. You can choose one of the following price types:

- Corporate
- Retail

Pricing Details

Specify the following details.

Price ID

Specify a unique price ID.

This price ID can be applied to a loan at underwriting stage.



Price Description

Specify a brief description of the price ID.

Default

Check this box to set this as the default price ID for the price group that you maintain.

1.18 Viewing Pricing Details

You can view the pricing details maintained in the 'Pricing Details' screen. To invoke the screen, type 'ORSPRCMT' in the field at the top right corner of the application toolbar and click the adjoining arrow button.

Pricing Details				_ ×
Authorization Status	•	Record Status	-	
Price Group ID	2	Description		×:
Price Type	_			
	Q Search Advanced Sea	arch		Reset
Records per page 15 👻 🚺				
Authorization Status	Record Status	Price Group ID	Description	Price Type
				-
<	T			• •
				Exit

In this screen, you can base your queries by providing any or all of the following criteria:

- Application Status
- Price Group ID
- Price Type
- Record Status
- Description

Based on the details provided, system displays the following details:

- Authorization Status
- Record Status
- Price Group ID
- Description



• Price Type

1.18.1 Maintaining Pricing Formula

Click 'Formula' button to define the pricing rule for each price ID. You can define the formula using origination system elements in Oracle FLEXCUBE.

Formula Maintenance					×
🕅 🖣 10f1 🕨 🕅 🔛			+		*
Sequence Number *	Condition	Score		*	
V 1					
					=
				-	_
Elements					
Index					
Functions					
Braces	_				
Operators	~				
Logical Operators	•				+
•		ſ	m	•	
			Ok	Cancel	

Sequence Number

Specify the sequence number.

Condition

Specify the possible data or the data limits here. The supported operators are:

Operator	Description
=	Equals To
>	Greater Than
>=	Greater Than (or) Equals To
<	Less Than
<=	Less Than (or) Equals To

Score

Specify the score for each condition.

Elements

Select the element from the adjoining option list.



If the loan requested details satisfies the condition specified in the pricing maintenance then the corresponding score gets added. If the details do not satisfy the condition then zero will be considered as default score.

Functions

Select the mathematical function to be used to define the formula from the drop-down list provided.

Braces

Select the opening or the closing brace from the drop-down list provided, to define the credit score calculation formula.

Operators

Select the mathematical operator to be used to define the credit score calculation formula. You can select '+', '-', '*', or '/'.

Logical Operators

Select the logical operator to be used to define the credit score calculation formula. You can select '<', '>', '=', '<>', '>=', '<=', 'AND' or 'OR'.

Based on the formula and the loan application category, the system automatically applies a price ID to the application. You can apply a different price ID that matches the application only at the Underwriting Stage.

If you change a price ID selected by the system and reapply a different price ID, the system changes the score of the pricing rule. The score determines the price ID to be automatically applied.

For Example:

Consider the elements "TENOR", "INTEREST_RATE" and REQUESTED_AMOUNT are taken for formulation.

Element	Condition	Score
TENOR (months)	>120<180	25
INTEREST_RATE	>13.6<=14.5	25
REQUESTED_AMOUNT (USD)	>10,000,000<15,000,000	50

For a pricing ID with the above scoring formula, each Loan-offer is checked against this formula. For the first offer, if every condition is satisfied, a total score of 100 is given for that offer. In case the offer fails to satisfy any condition, say condition 2 fails, then a score of 0 would be given instead of 25. On summing up the individual scores, a total score of 75 would be given for that loan-offer. The same scoring method would be followed for the remaining Loan-offers maintained for that application category.



1.18.2 Maintaining Pricing Offer

Click 'Pricing' button to define the pricing rule for each price ID for the user to pick up the offer for the loan.

	Offer Details									×
	🚺 🖣 10f1 🕨 🕅 🛛							+	- =	
	Sequence Number *	Score From *	Score Up To *	Rate *	No of Installments *	Frequency *	Units *		*	
V		1					Monthly	•		
									-	
								Ok	Canc	el

You can specify the following details here:

Sequence Number

System generates the sequence number.

Score From

Specify the start credit score to pick the offer for the loan.

Score Up To

Specify the end credit score to pick the offer for the loan.

Rate

Specify the rate to be picked up for the score.

No of Instalments

Specify the number of instalments for the offer.

Frequency

Specify the frequency of the offer.

Units

Select the frequency unit from the adjoining drop-down list. You can select one of the following:

- Daily
- Weekly



- Monthly
- Quarterly
- Half Yearly
- Yearly
- Bullet

For Example:

Consider the elements mentioned for Pricing formula are taken for calculation.

Sequence Number	Score From	Score Up-to	Rate	No. of Installments	Frequency	Units
1	0	25	13	48	1	Monthly
2	26	50	12	60	1	Monthly
3	51	75	11	72	1	Monthly
4	76	100	10.50	84	1	Monthly

For a pricing ID with a specific scoring formula, each Loan-offer is checked against the Offer Maintenance. The total score calculated using the formulae maintained is checked against the Pricing Offers maintained. The record for which the score generated falls in the range of Score From and Score Up-to, is picked up and the corresponding Interest rate, No. of Installments, Frequency and Units are applied.

1.18.3 Pricing in Category Maintenance

Function ID: ORDCATMT

The following screen would be modified to capture Pricing Group details.



Application Category M	laintenance Detail				_ ×
Application Category * Category Description	RETAIL_B RETAIL_B	Application Type Rule Id Ratio Id Pricing Group	Retail		
Main Agency					
Product Details					
I	Go			+ - [1	
BAD1	Product Description SIMPLE BEARING - Product trans	Default .:i			A
Offer Details					·
I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	Go			+ - 1	
Offer Id •	No of Installments 12	Units Frequency Monthly 💌	Rate Rate Code	Default	~
Maker TEST	6	Date Time: 2012-10-05 16:31:3	6 Mod No	1	
Checker TEST	6	Date Time: 2012-10-05 16:31:3	7 Record Status Or Authorization Status Au	pen Ithorized	Exit

1.18.4 Pricing in Under-Writing

Function ID: ORDRLUND

The following screen would be modified to accommodate Pricing Fields.



🔶 Retail Loan Underwriting			_ ×
Main Details Financial Requested Limit Col	ateral Credit Score Bureau Ra	tio Loan Component Charge I	Investigation Check List Comments
Pricing			
Pricing ID PRICE11	pply		
Multiple Offers			
le			+-=
Offer Id * No of Installments Fr	equency Unit Rate	Rate Code Check Apply	
✓ Offer21	4 Monthly 🔽 1	🔎 🖌 Apply	2
Einancing Details			
Loan Branch * 000	Value Date 2012-03	-01 No of Inst	taliments 12
Loan Account Number * 000PRD112061001	Maturity Date 2016-07	-01 2 Fi	requency 4
Financing Currency * GBP	Installment Start Date 2012-07	-01 💼	Unit Monthly 🗸
Financing Amount * 50,000.00	Status Change Mode Auto	~	Apply
	Close	Collateral	
Effective Date	User Defined Element Values	Intermediary	
	l4 4 10f1 ▶ ▶l Go	+ — Ⅲ I	ri 🕨 🚺 🚺 🕂 🕂 🖬
Effective Date *	User Defined Element Id 🕷 U	ser Defined Eleme 🖴 🔲 Intermedia	ary Code \star Intermediary Ratio
2012-03-01	ADCH_CHG		
	HANDL_CHG		
	INTEREST_RATE		
Documents Trade In KYC Review Customer Dedug	e Loan Dedupe Customer MIS	Customer Account MIS Customer/Ac	count Fields Vehicle Evaluator
Bureau Report Loan MIS Loan Fields			
Prev Remarks R	emarks	Audit	
		Outcome 🛛 👻	Exit

S. No.	Field Name	Description	Data Type	Length	Туре
1	Pricing ID	This is added to capture the Pricing ID for that application	Varchar2	16	User Input (from LOV)
2	Apply	On-click of this button, the pricing would be applied.			Button



1.19 Getting Started with Oracle Business Rules

This chapter describes how to use a business rule service component to integrate a SOA composite application with Oracle Business Rules. A business rule service component is also called a Decision component. You can add business rules as part of an SCA application or as part of a BPEL process

1.19.1 Introduction to the Business Rule Service Component

A Decision component, also called a business rule service component, supports use of Oracle Business Rules in a SOA composite application. Decision components support the following SOA composite usage:

- A Decision component can be used within a SOA composite and wired to a BPEL component.
- A Decision component can be used within a SOA composite and used directly to run business rules.
- A Decision component can be used with the dynamic routing capability of Mediator.
- A Decision component can be used with the Advanced Routing Rules in Human Workflow.

1.19.2 Integrating BPEL Processes, Business Rules, and Human Tasks

You can create a SOA composite application that includes BPEL process, business rule, and human task service components. These components are complementary technologies. BPEL processes focus on the orchestration of systems, services, and people. Business rules focus on decision making and policies. Human tasks enable you to model a workflow that describes the tasks for users or groups to perform as part of an end-to-end business process flow.

Some examples of where business rules can be used include:

Dynamic processing

Rules can perform intelligent routing within the business process based on service level agreements or other guidelines. For example, if the customer requires a response within one day, send a loan application to the QuickLoan loan agency only. If the customer can wait longer, then route the request to three different loan agencies.

Externalize business rules in the process

There are typically many conditions that must be evaluated as part of a business process. However, the parameters to these conditions can be changed independently of the process. For example, you provide loans only to customers with a credit score of at least 650. This value may be changed dynamically based on new guidelines set by business analysts.

Data validation and constraint checks

Rules can validate input documents or apply additional constraints on requests. For example, a new customer request must always be accompanied with an employment verification letter and bank account details.



Human task routing

Rules are frequently used in the context of human tasks in the business process:

- Policy-based task assignments dispatch tasks to specific roles or users. For example, a process that handles incoming requests from a portal can route loan requests and insurance quotes to a different set of roles.
- Load balancing of tasks among users. When a task is assigned to a set of users or a role, each user in that role acquires a set of tasks and acts on them in a specified time. For new incoming tasks, policies may be applied to set priorities on the task and put them in specific user queues. For example, a specific loan agent is assigned a maximum of 10 loans at any time.



1.19.3 Overview of Rules Designer Editor Environment

You can create a business rules service component in the SOA composite application of Oracle JDeveloper and then design it by using the Business Rules Designer, which is displayed when you double-click a business rule in the SOA Composite Editor.

The Business Rules Designer consists of the following main sections. These sections enable you to work with business rules in Oracle JDeveloper.

	ite.xml		
	I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	•	(
Projects 🔄 🥘 🖓 🕆 🛬 🔹 🦳 🗛	*		
testsuites f. Fin	Ruleset_1 Vew:	🐼 DecisionTable_1 🔹 🗣 🔹	×
B XSI (X) Go	aksing a second a sec	<enter description=""></enter>	
🛞 – 🤄 .taskeditor 🥔 🎸 Buc	ketsets		- 11 - 🚉 60 🕱 🔜 🔞
Business Rules	د <u>C</u> onditions	RI	R2
i - 1 example	C1 approve.price	<max_price< td=""><td>>=MAX_PRICE</td></max_price<>	>=MAX_PRICE
e-fil globalcompany Pulacet	<		
	· · ·		
e in approvalrule	leset_1		
RequiresAp			
ApprovalHumanTask.componentType			
on the second se			
Application Resources	 Actions 		
Data Controls 🛛 🗞 🏹 🛛	A1 modify approve(Image: A start and a start
Recently Opened Files	approvalRequired:b	false	true
RequiresApprovalRul			
P 🗟 🕴 🛉			
a + / ×			
Dictionary - RequiresApprovalRule.rules			
Dictionary - RequiresApprovalRule.rules Facts			
Dictionary - RequiresApprovalRule.rules Focts Forces Forces Forces Forces			
Dictionary - RequiresApprovalRule.rules Total Facts To			
Dictionary - RequiresApprovalRule.rules			
Dictionary - RequiresApprovalRule.rules			
Dictionary - RequiresApprovalRule.rules			
Dictionary - RequiresApprovalRule.rules Texts Dictions Dictions Dictions Dictions Dictions Dictions Diction Functions Diction Function Functions Diction Function Functions Diction Function Functi	Fit Columns To Webb		
Dictionary - RequiresApprovalRule.rules - Difference Functions - Difference Globals - Difference Links - Difference Rulesets	✓ Eit Columns To Width		
Dictionary - RequiresApprovalRule.rules	✓ Ejt Columns To Width :ss Rule Validation - Log		
Dictionary - RequiresApprovalRule.rules Texts Curve Constraints Cu	Elt Columns To Width Sss Rule Validation - Log Dory - Requires Amongolit de miles		✓ Display New Warning Fir
Dictionary - RequiresApprovalRule.rules Facts Ducketsets Ducketsets Rulesets Bucketsets Bucketsetsets Bucketsets Bucketsets Bucketsets Bucketsets Bucketsetsets Bucketsets Bucketsets Bucketsets Bucketsets Bucketsets Bucketsets Bucketsets Bucketsetsets Bucketsetsetsets Bucketsetsetsetsets Bucketsetsetsetsetsetsetsetsetsetsetsetsetse	Elt Columns To Width Ess Rule Validation - Log nary - RequiresApprovalRule.rules essage Dictionary	Object Proce	✓ Display New Warnings Fir rtv
Dictionary - RequiresApprovalRule.rules Facts Ducketsets Ducketsets Rulesets Bucketsets Bucketsetsets Bucketsetsets Bucketsets Bucketsetsetsets Bucketsetsetsets Bucketsetsetsets Bucketsetsetsets Bucketsetsetsetsets Bucketsetsetsetsetsets Bucketsetsetsetsetsetsets Bucketsetsetsetsetsetsetsetsetsetsetsetsetse	✓ Eit Columns To Width Ss Rule Validation - Log nary - RequiresApprovalRule.rules essage Dictionary	Object Prope	[v] Display New Warnings Fir tty
Dictionary - RequiresApprovalRule.rules Facts Dictions Dictions Dictions Rulesets Budetteels	Eit Columns To Width Ess Rule Validation - Log Inary - RequiresApprovalRule.rules Essage Dictionary	Object Prope	V Display New Warnings Fir.
Dictionary - RequiresApprovalRule.rules Functions Gobals Colored Co	Et Columns To Width Ess Rule Validation - Log nary - RequiresApprovalRule.rules essage Dictionary nings: 0	Object Prope	Display New Warnings First try ast Validation Time: 3:54:49 PM PC

Rules Designer in Oracle JDeveloper



1.19.3.1 Application Navigator

The Application Navigator displays the files in the project. Each project can only contain one composite. But each composite can have multiple components of either the same type or different types (Business Rules, BPEL process, Oracle Mediator, and human workflow).

As you design business rules, additional files, folders, and elements can appear in the Application Navigator.

1.19.3.2 Rules Designer Window

The **Rules Designer** window provides a visual view of the selected dictionary component. You use the Rules Designer navigation tabs to select different parts of the dictionary that you want to work with. The rules designer window displays when you perform one of the following actions:

- In a composite, double-click a **Business Rule** component.
- Double-click the Business Rule component in the SOA Composite Editor.
- In a BPEL process, double click a business rule.
- In the application navigator, double-click a business rules dictionary file (a file with the **.rules** extension)
- Click the **Design** tab with a **.rules** file selected.

The following table describes where you can find information about working with a dictionary with Rules Designer.

Rules Designer Navigation Tab	Description
Facts	Facts are the objects that rules reason on.
Functions	A function, in Oracle Business Rules, refers to the standard mathematical functions.
Globals	A global, in Oracle Business Rules, is similar to a public static variable in Java.
Bucketsets	Bucketsets define the data types of fact properties.
Links	Links are used to link to a dictionary in the same application or in another application.
Decision Functions	A Decision Function is a function that is configured declaratively, without using RL Language programming.
Rulesets with Rules and	A ruleset provides a unit of execution for rules and for Decision

Rules Designer Navigation Areas Descriptions



Decision Tables	Tables. A Decision Table provides a mechanism for describing
	data processing tasks.

1.19.3.3 <u>Structure Window</u>

The Structure window offers a structural view of the data in the Business Rule dictionary currently selected in the **Rules Designer** window. You can perform a variety of tasks from this section, by selecting an element and right-clicking on the element, including:

- Managing (creating, editing, refreshing, and deleting) elements such as facts, functions, globals, bucketsets, dictionary links, and decision functions
- Accessing rulesets, rules, and Decision Tables

🛅 OracleRules1.rules - Structure			
📌 🖹			
මො	÷	I	×
Dictionary - OracleRules1.rules			
庄 🛅 Facts			
Functions			
Globals			
Bucketsets			
Links			
Decision Functions			
🗄 🗁 Rulesets			
Ruleset_1			
1) 1Developer's muser l'Test 2) Project 1 / con	mocil		J

Structure Window with Rules Designer Dictionary

1.19.3.4 Business Rule Validation Log Window

Rules Designer displays the status of dictionary validation in the business rule validation log, as shown below. When a dictionary is invalid, Rules Designer produces a list of warning messages and lists the associated dictionary objects that you can use to locate the dictionary object and to correct the problem. You can safely ignore the validation warnings that you see when you create rules using Rules Designer. The validation warnings are removed as you create the rules, but are shown during the intermediate steps. To test or deploy rules, the associated dictionary must not display warnings.



Business Rule Validation - Log			_
Dictionary - OracleRules1.rules			📝 Display New Warnings First
Message	Dictionary O	bject	Property
SDK Warnings: 0			Last Validation Time: 7:35:17 AM PDT
Messages Business Rule Validation	Feedback		

Rules Designer Business Rule Validation Log

1.19.4 Introduction to Creating and Editing Business Rules

This section describes how to get started with business rules and provides a brief introduction to the main sections of Oracle JDeveloper that you use to design business rules.

1.19.4.1 How to Create Business Rules Components

You can add Business Rule components using the SOA Composite Editor.

To create a Business Rule component:

Follow the instructions in the table below to start Oracle JDeveloper.

Starting Oracle JDeveloper

Т	o Start	On Windows	On UNIX
0	racle	Click	\$ORACLE_HOME/jdev/bin/jde
J[Developer	JDev_Oracle_Home\JDev\bin\jdev.exe	v

Create a Business Rule service component through one of the following methods:

As a service component in an existing SOA composite application:

1. From the Component Palette, drag a **Business Rule** service component into the SOA Composite Editor.

In a new application:

2. From the Application Navigator, select File > New > Applications > SOA Application.

This starts the "Create SOA Application" wizard.



- 3. In the "Name your application" page, enter an application name in the **Name** field.
- 4. In the **Directory** field, enter a directory path in which to create the SOA composite application and project.
- 5. Click Next.
- 6. In the Name your project page, enter a unique project name in the **Project Name** field. The project name must be unique across SOA composite applications. This is because the uniqueness of a composite is determined by its project name. For example, do not perform the actions described in the table below.

Restrictions on Naming a SOA Project

Create an Application Named	With a SOA Project Named
Application1	Project1
Application2	Project1

During deployment, the second deployed project (composite) overwrites the first deployed project (composite).

- 7. Click Next.
- 8. In the Configure SOA settings page, select **Composite with Business Rule**.
- 9. Click Finish.

Each method causes the Create Business Rules dialog shown below, to appear.



📥 Create I	Business Rules			
Business R A busines structure	ule is rule defines or constrains or influence the behavior o	one aspect of your business f your business.	that is intended to assert business	\diamond
General	Advanced	onary		
Specify th <u>N</u> ame:	e name and package for the OracleRules1	e dictionary that will be create	d.	
Package: Project:	Package: project1 Project: C:\JDeveloper\mywork\Test2\Project1\Project1.jpr			
Inputs/Ou	Itputs:		+ - × ∧	~
Direction		Name	Туре	
Help			ОК Са	incel

Create Business Rules Dialog

- 10. Provide the required details.
- 11. Click **OK**.

1.19.4.2 Introduction to Working with Business Rules in Rules Designer

When you are working with business rules Oracle JDeveloper displays Rules Designer.

1.19.5 Adding Business Rules to a BPEL Process

You can use a Decision component, also called a business rule service component, to execute business rules in a BPEL process.

1.19.5.1 How to Add Business Rules to a BPEL Process

You add business rules to a BPEL process using a **Business Rule** component. When you add a business rule component to a BPEL process you need to include input and output variables to provide input to the rules and obtain results back from the business rules.

A business rule component enables you to execute business rules and make business decisions based on the rules. To create a business rule component, also called a Decision component, drag-and-drop a **Business Rule** from the component palette into the BPEL process.



To add a business rule to a BPEL process:

- 1. Create a BPEL process service component.
- 2. Expand the BPEL process. For example, expand the BPEL process to view receiveInput and callbackClient as shown in below.

	s PC composite.xml	AutoLoanProcess.bpel		•	Component Palette
🖌 - 🕅 - 🕲 - 🔗-	· 🚱 i 🧏		bod BPEL▼ (?	BPEL
Partner Links	I main X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X	ecciveInput	Partner Links		 BPA Blue Prints BPA Blue Prints BPEL Activities and Components Activities and Components Activities and Components BPEL Process Business Rule Human Task Human Task Human Task Human Task Bell Activities Bell Activities Bind Entity Compensate Create Entity Email Empty Flow FlowN IM
		Zoom: 100 🖨 💳		6	BPEL Services
Design Source History					4 4 4

Adding a Business Rule to a BPEL Process

3. Select **Business Rule** from the BPEL Activities and Components section of the Component Palette and drag-and-drop a **Business Rule** into the position where the business rules are needed. For example, drag-and-drop a **Business Rule** between receiveInput and callbackClient, as shown below.





Drag-and-drop a Business Rule into a BPEL Process

4. Oracle JDeveloper displays the business rule in the diagram. In the business rule area you can select an existing Oracle Business Rules dictionary or enter the name of a new dictionary to create. The Business Rule area includes a field to enter the business rule name. In the **Name** field enter a name. For example, enter GetCreditRating, as shown below. If you previously created a dictionary, in the **Dictionary** field, select an existing dictionary.



🔁 AutoLaonApplication.jws 🛛 🙀 composite.xml 🛛 💑 AutoLoanProcess.bpel	∍
🖌 🗸 🖓 ד 🍪 ד 🍪 🖓 🖓 🖓 👘	2
Business Rule	
Name: GetCreditRating Dictionary: (none) Select a dictionary which contains decision services to be used in this activity, or create a dictionary which will launch the Business Rule Designer. You will then be able to start authoring rules.	
main - /process/sequence Zoom: 100 🖨 🔅	

Business Rule Added to Auto Loan BPEL Process

- 5. In the Business Rule area for the **Business Rule Dictionary**, click the **Create Dictionary** icon to display the Create Business Rules dialog.
- 6. In the Create Business Rules dialog you do the following:
 - Specify a name for the Oracle Business Rules dictionary and a package name.
 - Specify the input and output data elements for the business rule. For example, for a sample Decision component named GetCreditRating, the input is a rating request document. The output is generated when you run the business rules, and for this example is a rating document. For example, in BPEL you can create two new variables; RatingRequest and Rating that carry the input and output data for the GetCreditRating rules.

Enter a name for the Oracle Business Rules dictionary. For example, enter GetCreditRating, as shown below



📥 Create I	Business Rules	
Business R A busines structure	ule is rule defines or constrains one aspect of your business that is intended to assert business or influence the behavior of your business.	¢
General © Create Specify th	Advanced	
Name:	GetCreditRating	
– <u>P</u> ackage:	autoloancomposite	
Project:	C:\JDeveloper\mywork\AutoLaonApplication\AutoLoanComposite\AutoLoanComposite.jpr	
Input and	Output Variables:	* *
Direction	Name Type	
<u>₹</u> eset	Session	
Help	OK	Cancel

Adding GetCreditRating Business Rule Dictionary

Add inputs for business rule:

1. In the Create Business Rules dialog, from the dropdown menu next to the **Add** icon select **Add Input Variable** to create the input variable.

This displays the Add Input Variable dialog.

- 2. In the Add Input Variable dialog expand the **Process** folder and select the **Variables** folder immediately inside the **Process**.
- 3. Right-click the **Variables** folder and from the dropdown list select **Create Variable...** as shown below



🔿 Add Input Variable	
1	4 ∕ ×
Variables Variable Variable Scope Vari Vi Vari Vari Vari Vari Vari Vari Vari Vari	
Show Detailed Node Information	OK

Add Input Variable

This displays the Create Variable dialog.

4. In the Create Variable dialog, in the **Name** field enter a value. For example, enter RatingRequest as shown below.



🖕 Create Variable 🛛	×
General Sensors	
Name: RatingRequest	
Туре	
♦ ● Element	
Entity Variable	
Partner Link:	
Help Apply OK Cancel	

Create Variable Dialog

- 5. In the Create Variable **Type** area, click the **Browse Elements** icon. Use the navigator to locate the schema element type for the input variable. For example, select the ratingrequest type. Add any needed types using the Type Chooser.
- 6. Click the **Import Schema File** icon to import the schema. For example, import CreditRatingTypes.xsd. Also import any other required schema for your application.
- 7. In the Type Chooser dialog, select **ratingrequest** and click **OK**.
- 8. In the Create Variable dialog, click **OK**.
- 9. In the Add Input Variable dialog, click OK.

Add outputs for business rule:

- 1. In the Create Business Rules dialog, from the dropdown menu next to the **Add** icon, select **Add Output Variable...**. This displays the Add Output Variable dialog. Use this dialog to create an output variable. For example, create an output variable for GetCreditRating in the same way you created the input variable.
- 2. In the Add Output Variable dialog select the scope by selecting the **Variables** folder under **Process**.
- Right-click and from the dropdown list select Create Variable.... This displays the Create Variable dialog.
- 4. In the Create Variable dialog, in the **Name** field enter the output variable name. For example enter Rating.
- In the Create Variable dialog, in the Type area select the Browse elements icon and use the Type Chooser dialog to enter the type for the output variable. For example, expand the CreditRatingTypes.xsd and select the element type rating.
- 6. In the Type Chooser dialog, click **OK**.



- 7. In the Create Variable dialog, click **OK**.
- 8. In the Add Output Variable dialog, click **OK**.

This displays the Create Business Rules dialog, as shown below.

Business Rule A business rule defines or constrains one aspect of your business that is intended to assert business structure or influence the behavior of your business.				
Advanced				
Dictionary 🔘 Import Dictionary				
name and package for the dictionary that	: will be created.			
GetCreditRating				
autoloancomposite				
C:\]Developer\mywork\AutoLaonApplication\AutoLoanComposite\AutoLoanComposite.ipr				
C:\JDeveloper\mywork\AutoLaonApplicati	on\AutoLoanComposite\AutoLoanComposite.jpr			
C:\JDeveloper\mywork\AutoLaonApplicati Dutput Variables:	on\AutoLoanComposite\AutoLoanComposite.jpr	* *		
C:\JDeveloper\mywork\AutoLaonApplicati Dutput Variables: Name RatingRequest	on\AutoLoanComposite\AutoLoanComposite.jpr	* *		
	Advanced Dictionary Import Dictionary mame and package for the dictionary that GetCreditRating autoloancomposite	Include a spect of your business that is intended to assert business or influence the behavior of your business. Advanced Dictionary O Import Dictionary Import Dictionary Import Dictionary that will be created. GetCreditRating autoloancomposite		

Create Business Rules Dialog with Input and Output Variables

Set options and create decision service and business rules dictionary:

- If you do not want to use the default service name, then select the Advanced tab and in the Service Name field enter the service name. For example enter the service name CreditRatingService.
- 2. Determine if the Decision Component is stateful or stateless with Reset Session.
- 3. In the Create Business Rules dialog, click **OK**. Oracle JDeveloper creates the Decision component and the dictionary and displays Rules Designer, as shown below.



Rules Designer Canvas Where You Work with Business Rules

1.19.5.2 What Happens When You Add Business Rules to a BPEL Process

When you add business rules to a BPEL process, Oracle JDeveloper creates a Decision component to control and run the business rules using the Business Rule Service Engine.

A Decision component consists of the following:

- Rules or Decision Tables that are evaluated using the Rules Engine. These are defined using Rules Designer and stored in a business rules dictionary.
- A description of the facts required for specific rules to be evaluated and the decision function to call. Each ruleset that contains rules or Decision Tables is exposed as a service with facts that are input and output, and the name of an Oracle Business Rules decision function. The facts are exposed through XSD definitions when you define the inputs and outputs for the business rule. A Decision function is stored in an Oracle Business Rules Business Rules dictionary. For more information, see *Oracle Fusion Middleware User's Guide for Oracle Business Rules*.
- A web service wraps the input, output, and the call to the underlying Business Rule service engine.

This web service lets business processes assert and retract facts as part of the process. In some cases, all facts can be asserted from the business process as one unit. In other cases, the business process can incrementally assert facts and eventually consult the rule engine for inferences. Therefore, the service supports both stateless and stateful interactions.

You can create a variety of such Decision components.



1.19.5.3 What Happens When You Create a Business Rules Dictionary

After you create an application, a project, and a rules dictionary, the rules dictionary appears in the structure pane in Oracle JDeveloper and Rules Designer opens in the main canvas.

As part of the create Business Rule dialog you either select an existing dictionary or a new rule dictionary is created with the following pre-loaded data:

- XML fact type model based on the input and output information of the Business Rule.
- A Ruleset that needs to be completed by adding rules or Decision Tables. With an existing dictionary, you use the import option to specify a dictionary that may already contain the rules or Decision Tables.
- A service component with the input and output contract of the Decision component.
- A Decision component for the rule dictionary and wires to the BPEL process.

Note:

When you create inputs and outputs for a business rule, the XML fact type that is created in the associated dictionary is named based on the schema types for the inputs and outputs that you supply in the Create Business Rules dialog. When you specify schema type for the input and the output, Rules Designer defines fact types and aliases associated with your type selections for input and output. If you only use a single type for both the input and the output, then the Decision component creates a single fact type you specified and uses an alias name that is a concatenation of both the input variable name and the output variable name. In Rules Designer you can rename this alias if you do not like the default naming scheme for the fact type.

1.19.5.4 What You Need to Know About Invoking Business Rules in a BPEL Process

When you add business rules to a BPEL process Oracle JDeveloper creates a Decision Service that supports calling Oracle Business Rules with the inputs you supply, and returning the outputs with results. The Decision Service provides access to Oracle Business Rules Engine at runtime as a web service.

1.19.5.5 What You Need to Know About Decision Component Stateful Operation

A Decision Component running in a business rules service engine supports either stateful or stateless operation. The **Reset Session** checkbox in the Create Business Rules dialog provides support for these two modes of operation.

By default the **Reset Session** checkbox is selected which indicates stateless operation. Stateless operation means that, at runtime, the rule session is released after the Decision Component invocation.



When **Reset Session** is unselected, the underlying Oracle Business Rules object is kept in the memory of the business rules service engine at a separate location (so that it is not given back to the Rule Session Pool when the operation is finished). A subsequent use of the Decision component re-uses the cached RuleSession object, with all its state information from the callFunctionStateful invocation, and then releases it back to the Rule Session pool once the callFunctionStateless operation is finished. Thus, when **Reset Session** is unselected the rule session is saved for a subsequent request and a sequence of Decision Service invocations from the same BPEL process should always end with a stateless invocation.

1.19.6 Adding Business Rules to a SOA Composite Application

To work with Oracle Business Rules in a SOA composite application, you create an application and add business rules.

The business rule service component enables you to integrate your SOA composite application with business rules. This creates a business rule dictionary and enables you to execute business rules and make business decisions based on the rules.

After creating a project in Oracle JDeveloper, you need to create a Business Rule Service component within the project. When you add a business rule you can create input and output variables to provide input to the service component and to obtain results from the service component.

To use business rules with Oracle JDeveloper, you do the following:

- Add a business rules service component
- Create input and output variables for the service component
- Create an Oracle Business Rules dictionary

1.19.6.1 How to Add Business Rules to a SOA Composite Application

To work with Oracle Business Rules in a SOA composite application you use Oracle JDeveloper to create an application, a project, and then add a business rule component.

To create a SOA application with business rules:

- 1. Create a SOA application and project. For a SOA composite using business rules, pick the required technologies for your application. For example, you may need the following for a SOA application with business rules: ADF Business Components, Java, and XML. You move these items to the **Selected** area on the Project Technologies tab.
- 2. In the Application Navigator, if the SOA composite editor is not showing, then in your project expand **SOA Content** folder and double-click composite.xml to launch the SOA composite editor.
- 3. From the Component Palette, drag-and-drop a **Business Rule** from the Service Components area of the SOA menu to the **Components** lane of the SOA composite editor, as shown below.





Adding Business Rules to a SOA Composite Application

4. When you drag-and-drop a **Business Rule**, Oracle JDeveloper displays the Create Business Rules dialog as shown below.



ঌ Create I	Business Rules				
Business Rule A business rule defines or constrains one aspect of your business that is intended to assert business structure or influence the behavior of your business.					
General	Advanced				
⊙ <u>C</u> reate	te Dictionary 🔘 Import Dictionary				
Specify th	he name and package for the dictionary that will be created.				
<u>N</u> ame:	OracleRules1				
<u>P</u> ackage:	: orderapproval				
Project:	C:\JDeveloper\mywork\OrderApprovalApp\OrderApproval\OrderAppro	C:\JDeveloper\mywork\OrderApprovalApp\OrderApproval\OrderApproval.jpr			
Inputs/Ou Direction	Putputs:	+- X ^ v			
Help		OK Cancel			

Adding Business Rules to a SOA Composite and Creating a Dictionary

Add inputs for business rules:

- 1. In the Create Business Rules dialog, from the dropdown menu next to the **Add** icon select **Input** to add input for the business rule. This displays the Type Chooser dialog.
- 2. In the Type Chooser dialog, add inputs. If the schema is available in the **Project Schema Files**, skip to step <u>9</u> to select the appropriate schema.
- 3. Click the **Import Schema File**... icon. This brings up the Import Schema File dialog.
- 4. In the Import Schema File dialog click **Browse Resources** to choose the XML schema elements for the input. This displays the SOA Resource Browser dialog.
- 5. In the SOA Resource Browser dialog, navigate to find the schema for your business rules input. For example, select the order.xsd schema file, and click **OK**.
- 6. In the Import Schema File dialog select **Copy to Project**, as shown below.



👌 Creat	🕹 Type Chooser 💦 🔀	×
Business A busir structu	Type Explorer	
∫ Genera ⊙ <u>C</u> re		
Specify <u>N</u> ame: <u>P</u> ackag Project	Import Schema File URL: file:/C:/Temp/order.xsd ✓ Copy to Project Help OK Cancel	
Inputs/ Direct	Iype: Show Detailed Node Information	
Help	Help OK Cancel	Iancel

Importing Schema for Input to Business Rules

- 7. In the Import Schema File dialog, click **OK**.
- 8. In the Localize Files dialog, click **OK**.
- 9. Use the Type Chooser dialog navigator to locate and select the input from the schema and click **OK**. For example, select the CustomerOrder element as the input.

Add outputs for business rules:

- 1. In the Create Business Rules dialog, from the dropdown menu next to the **Add** icon select **Output...**.
- 2. In the Type Chooser dialog, in a manner similar to adding an input add the output. For example, add OrderApproval from the order.xsd and click **OK**.
- 3. This displays the Create Business Rules dialog, as shown below.



ঌ Create I	Business Rules			
Business Rule A business rule defines or constrains one aspect of your business that is intended to assert business structure or influence the behavior of your business.				
General	Advanced			
Oreate Specify the	Dictionary O Import Dictionary	y that will be created.		
<u>N</u> ame:	OracleRules1			
<u>P</u> ackage:	orderapproval			
Project:	C:\JDeveloper\mywork\OrderAppro	valApp\OrderApproval\Orde	erApproval.jpr	
Inputs/Outputs:				
Input	Custome	rOrder	{bttp://www.customer.com/ps/cu	
Output	OrderApproval		{http://www.customer.com/ns/cu	
	e as Composite Service		OK Cancel	

Create Business Rules Dialog with Input and Output

Set options and create decision service and business rules dictionary:

- In the Create Business Rules dialog, select Expose as Composite Service.
 If you do not want to use the default service name, then select the Advanced tab and in the Service Name field enter the service name.
- 3. In the Create Business Rules dialog, click **OK**. This creates the Business Rule component, also called a Decision component, and Oracle JDeveloper shows the Business Rule component in the canvas workspace as shown below.



Application Navigator	📲 composite.xml 🛛 🖂 OrderAppro	ovalApp.jws	composite.xml
🔁 OrderApprovalApp 🛛 👻 🔁 👻	🖌 🗲 🔪 🖷 🖶 🗙 🕕 🛛	し 古 同 目 🤣	Composite: SOAComposite1
Projects Q Projects Q Projects Q Proval SOA Content Casses Casses	Exposed Services	Components	External References
한 xsl Business Rules - 아랍 composite.xml ④ OracleRules1_DecisionSe - 쯟 OracleRules1.component ④ OracleRules1.decs	OracleRules1 Operations: callFunctionStat callFunctionStat	OracleRules1	
 Application Resources Data Controls Recently Opened Files 	< Design Source History		*

Business Rule Component in SOA Composite

4. Double-click the Decision component (for example the **OracleRules1** business rule). This opens Rules Designer, as below. The validation log shows validation warnings for the input and output facts. By working with Rules Designer to define rules or decision tables, you remove these warning messages.



composite.xml	derApprovalApp.jws	ecomposite.x	ml 🔷 Oracle Rules 1.ru	les Composite.xm	
(i) 🗸 10 (ii) 4 10 (ii) 4 10 (iii)					
in Facts	D. Bulanch A		Vieur 🔼 🚽 🖺 🗉	v & B B A	
f _x Functions	± Ruleset_1				
(X) Globals					
🌮 Bucketsets	To creat	e a Rule or Decis	ion Table, please click t	he plus sign above.	
all Links					
Decision Functions					
Rulesets 🛛 🕂 💥					
💊 Ruleset_1					
-	1				
e Desian	N				
Business Rule Validatio	n - Log				0
Dictionary - OracleRules	it.rules			🔽 Display New Warr	ninas First
Message			Dictionary Obj	ect	Pr
A RUL-05163: The fact	type "CustomerOrder	" is not used in any	ruleset c OracleRules1/D	ata Model/Decision Functi	ion(
AUL-05164: The fact	type "OrderApproval"	' is referenced, but	s not as OracleRules1/D	ata Model/Decision Functi	ion(
SDK Warnings: 2			La	ast Validation Time: 8:27:4	4 AM PDT
Messages BPEL Fee	dback Business F	Rule Validation			

Rules Designer Showing New Dictionary for SOA Composite Application

1.19.6.2 <u>How to Select and Modify a Decision Function in a Business Rule</u>

You can specify one or more decision functions as inputs for calling Oracle Business Rules as a component in a composite application. For example, you can specify a particular decision function as the input when multiple decision functions are available in an Oracle Business Rules dictionary.

To specify a decision function in a composite application:

- 1. Add a decision function to the Oracle Business Rules dictionary.
- 2. Add a Business Rule component to the composite application.
- 3. Select a business rule component, as shown below.


on composite.xml		
🗸 🖌 🖣 🔁 🗙 🛈 🗟 🕯	k 🖲 💣 🤣	Composite: Project3
Exposed Services	Components OracleRules1 Component: Type: Bucines	External References
	Type, busines.	
<		>
Design Source History		

Selecting a Business Rule Component in a Composite Application

4. Select the decision function port of interest. For example, select the port for DF_2 as shown below.



Selecting a Decision Function Port in a Business Rule Component



- 5. When you select the port, Oracle JDeveloper shows the port information in the Property Inspector.
- 6. When you double-click the port, Oracle JDeveloper displays the Update Interface dialog for the port as shown below.

Lindate Interface						
opuate internace						
Component: OracleRule	es1					
Service: DF_2						
WSDL URL: DF_2.wsdl						
Port Type: IDecisionS	ervice					/
Operation	Туре	Message	Part	Туре	QName	Schema Location
callFunctionStateless	input	callFunctionStatelessMessage	payload	element	callFunctionStateless	DF_2.wsdl
callFunctionStateless	output	callFunctionStatelessDecisionMessage	payload	element	callFunctionStatelessDeci	DF_2.wsdl
callFunctionStateless	fault:operationErroredFault	decisionServiceError	payload	element	errorInfo	DF_2.wsdl
callFunctionStateful	input	callFunctionStatefulMessage	payload	element	callFunctionStateful	DF_2.wsdl
callFunctionStateful	output	callFunctionStatefulDecisionMessage	payload	element	callFunctionStatefulDecision	DF_2.wsdl
callFunctionStateful	fault:operationErroredFault	decisionServiceError	payload	element	errorInfo	DF_2.wsdl
Show Details						
	, algoratic h					
Create Composite Ser	VICE WITH SOAP bindings					
Help					ОК	Cancel
Toth						

Update Interface Dialog for a Decision Function in a Business Rule Decision Port

1.19.7 <u>Running Business Rules in a Composite Application</u>

You run business rules as part of a Decision component within a SOA composite application. The business rules are executed by the Business Rule Service Engine. You can use Oracle Enterprise Manager Fusion Middleware Control Console to monitor the Business Rule Service Engine and to test a SOA composite application that includes a Decision component.

1.19.8 Editing Business Rules through SOA Composer

You can modify the existing business rules using SOA Composer. This can be used to increase verification and approval levels in any process-flow. You can open an existing rule dictionary as shown below.





Open Rules in SOA Composer

ORACLE' SOA Compose	er					P Bookmarkable Link Logout
De Open 😓 🚽 🖊 Edit 🛛 🔯 Commit	🤷 Revert 😓 📔 ✔ Valda	te 🚯 Info				cogged in to webiog
Open a document to edit.						
	Select a dictionary to ope	en				
	Show All 👻	RetailLending_rev1.0	• 🔶			
	Composite	Partition	Dictionary	Contents	Rules File	
	RetaiLending_rev1.0	default	KYCRule	Ruleset1	KYCRule.rules	
	Retailending_rev1.0	default	VarifyAppRules	Ruleset1	LoanAprovalRule	
	Retaileriding_rev1.0	uerauru	veniyappicules	Ruesett	veniyAppkulesa	
	•		m		- F	
					Open Cancel	



Select a dictionary to open				8
Show All 👻 F	RetailLending_rev1.0	•		
Composite	Partition	Dictionary	Contents	Rules File
RetailLending_rev1.0	default	KYCRule	Ruleset1	KYCRule.rules
RetailLending_rev1.0	default	LoanAprovalRules	Ruleset1	LoanAprovalRul
RetailLending_rev1.0	default	VerifyAppRules	Ruleset1	VerifyAppRules.
•				•
				Cases Cases

Select a dictionary to open in SOA Composer

Click the "Edit" button in the tool bar to enable editing of the selected Rule dictionary.

ORACLE' SOA C	Composer & Bookmarkable Link Log	gout 👱
	Logged in as to	weblogic
🗁 Open 🤝 🦯 Edit 🔰	🗟 Commit 🖆 Revert 👻 🗸 Validale 🚯 Info	
LoanAprovalRules.rule	les	
(X) Globals		
Ø Bucketsets	X Delevent How TETHEN Deleve - A 12062 -	
P Links	· Notesta new apprentiment of the state of the	
Interestion Real Contractions		
Rulesets	∇ ⊗ Rule1	
谷 Ruleset1		
	IF	
		_
	underwritingInput.approval.evel is 1	
	THEN	
	Accest New indexisting that / supervisibles ideal %* for thirds 70000 ABP* assessed 1	
	настини инститиции (арриниксция г.) накалия, оконсник упаления (
	IF	
		_
	underwritingInput.approvalLevel more than 1	
	THEN	
	Assert New underwritinoQutput (approvalReoured:"N", functionid:"ORDRLAPR", name:null)	

Edit Rules in SOA Composer

Once the changes are made, you can save the changes. The changes will get applied to the runtime application once you commit the changes done as shown below.



ORACLE SOA Composer	Bookmarkable Link Logout O
Den マ Save Sound @ Revert マ ✓ Validate ① Info	
I LoanAprovalRules.rules	and the second
(x) Gobals ⁽²⁾ Bucketsets ⁽²⁾ Links ⁽²⁾ Links	ŕ
Rulesets $\forall \ Rule1$ $\textcircled{Rule1}$	
IF 0 ₄ ⊳ 0 ₄ s ⊕	
🔲 underwritinglinput.approx 🔍 is 🔹 1 🔍 🔍 + 🗸 -	
THEN 🗘 🕹	E
📄 Assert New 👻 underwritingOutput 🤍 (approvaRequired: "Y", functionid: "ORDRLAPR", namernull) 🦻 🚛	
V ¥ Rule2 📑 🗙 🏠 🖓	
IF 0 ₄ , 0 ₈ G G.	
underwritinglinput.approl Q more than • 1 Q + -	
THEN ☆ ↔	· ·
	•



ORACLE' SOA Composer	🧬 Bookmarkable Link Logout 으
🖻 Open 🗢 🛛 🖥 Save 🛛 🔯 Commit 😝 🖉 Validate 🕒 Info	Logged in as weblogic
Confirmation Successfully saved the changes.	×
📖 LoanAprovalRules.rules	
(x) Globals ⁽²⁾ Bucketsets ⁽²⁾ Links	1
⁽²⁾ / ₁ Decision Functions Rulesets ⁽²⁾ / ₂ Ruleset1	
IF 0 ₄ ⊳ 0 ₄₈ G - Ģ	E
🔲 underwritinginput.appror 🔍 is 🔹 1 🔍 🛶 —	
THEN & &	
🗌 Assert New 👻 underwritingOutput 🤍 (approvalRequired: "Y", functionid: "ORDRLAPR", name:null) "🥙 🛓 🗕	
	· · · ·
Business Rule Validation - Log	
Includinary Cogest property	

Commit changes to the runtime



Example:

The following example shows how to add a new level of approval – Management Approval (ORDRLMAP) to an existing set of rules.

Step 1: Edit the existing rules wherever necessary (Rule 2 in our case, to handle the else condition).

ORACLE: SOA C	omposer & Bookmarkable Link Logout C Logged in as weblogic
Dpen 🗸 🖥 Save	≫ Commit ⊯ Revert マ ✓ Vaidate) β Info
(x) Globals (x) G	* Rulesett * Rulesett * Rules * Rules * Rules * Rules </th
	بـــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــ

The highlighted portion in the image below shows the modification on an existing rule.



LoanAprovalRules.rules	
(X) Globals C Bucketsets Links	Xuleset1 View IF/THEN Rules If > X I=2 of 2 I→ I=2 of 2 I→ I I→
♠ Decision Functions Rulesets ♦ Ruleset1	$\nabla \approx \mathbb{R}_{ule1} \qquad \qquad$
	InderwritingInput.appro 🔍 is 💌 1 🔍 + V –
	🔲 Assert New 👽 underwritingOutput 💌 (approvalRequired:"Y", functionid: "ORDRLAPR", name:null) 💞 🚛
	$\nabla \times \mathbb{R}_{de2}$ $\mathbf{IF} \qquad (h_{2} \ (h_{3} \ (h_{2} \ (h_{3} \ (h_$
	THEN \bigcirc \bigcirc (approvalRequired: N*, functionid: "ORDRLAPR", name:null) \heartsuit \bigstar

Step 2: Add a new rule by clicking the "New Rule" button as shown below.

💷 LoanAprovalRules.rule	5
(x) Gobals	Ruleseti Vew [F/THEN Rules]] < % (> 12of2] (> V * Rule1 IF (Ap (Ap ()) (>) IF (Ap () () () () () () () () () () () () ()
(x) Globals	
Bucketsets	
P Links	× Ruleset1 View IF/THEN Rules 💌 🔐 ▼ 💥 <≔ 1-2 of 2 💌 🗇
🚓 Decision Functions	
lesets	
谷 Ruleset1	IF () () () () () () (New Rule)

or Decision Functions	▼ ¥ Rule1
Q Ruleset1	IF (λ _i) (λ _i) () _i ()) () _i () _i () _i ()) () _i () _i () _i () _i ()) ()() ()() ()()() ()()() ()()()()()
	🔲 underwritingInput.approv 🔍 is 💌 1 🔍 + 🗸 –
	THEN & I
	🔲 Assert New 💌 underwritingOutput 💽 (approvalRequired: "Y", functionid:"ORDRLAPR", name:null)) 💬 🚛

Step 3: Rename the newly created rule, expand and edit the rule.



LoanAprovalRules.rule	
(x) Globals Ducketsets Links Decision Functions Rulesets Ruleset1	× Ruleset1 View IF/THEN Rules
	THEN Image: Second se
	THEN Image: Constraint of the second secon

Step 4: Click the "Edit Properties" button to provide values for the variables

∇ ¥ Rule 3	🖸 🗙 🏠 🖓
IF ()⇒ ()⊗ ⊕ ⊕	
🔲 ritingInput.approvalLevel 🔍	is 2 4 + -
 тнем 🏠 🖓	
Assert New 💌 underwriting	Dutput 🕡 🖓 🛨 🗕
	Edit properties

Name	Туре	Value	Constant
approvalRequired	String	"Y" 🔍	
functionid	String	"ORDRLMAP"	
name	String	null 🔍	V

The image below shows the newly created rule.



∇ ¥ Rule 3	
IF (\⊨ (\≝ ᠿ ⊕	
🔲 ritingInput.approvalLevel 🔍	is v 2 4 + v -
THEN 🏠 🖓	
Assert New 💌 underwritingC	Output 🗨 (approvalRequired: "Y", functionid: "ORDRLMAP", name:null) 🎇 👍 🖃

Step 5: Save the rule and commit it for the rules to invoke changes in the runtime.

ORACLE SOA C	Composer	igout C weblogik
⊃ Open 🗢 🛛 🔒 Save	🐱 Commit 🖆 Revert 🤝 🛷 Valdate 🚯 Info	
(x) Globals CanAprovall Save the impact of Canadian Save the i	e changes to the user session. This does not other users unless you commit the changes. IF $Q_{2P} \ Q_{2R} \ Q_{2P} \ Q_{2P}$	
Rulesets	🔲 underwritingInput.approl 🔍 is 💽 1 🔍 🐥 + 🗸 -	
🗞 Ruleset1	THEN Image: Comparison of the second secon	
	V ¥ Rule2 V ¥ Rule2 JF (b) (b) (b) ImingInput.approval.evel (c) ImingInput.approval.evel (c) </td <td></td>	
	✓ ¥ Rule 3 ③ ¥ ☆ ↓ IF (b) (b) □ fringinput.approvaluered ♥, is 2 □ File ↓	•



ORACLE' SOA Co	omposer de Bookmarkable Link Logout 🗨 Logged in as webliogie
Open □	Commit Image: Source of the changes to the runtime. Image: Source of the changes to the runtime.
LoanAprovalRules.rules	
(x) Globals & Budetsets & Links & Coesion Functions Rulesets & Ruleset1	IF (b) (b) (b) (b) (b) (c) (b) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c
	V \$ Rule2 IF (b) (b) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c
	V ≈ Rule 3 IF (b ₀ (b ₀ 2) □ ritrightput.approval.evel 0 s THEN 2 0

Confirm the commit to close the edit session and post changes into runtime.

Confirm	
Do you want to commit the changes?	
This commits your changes to the runtime and ends the edit sessio	n.
Yes	lo

1.20 Integrating Oracle FCUBS with BPEL Process Manager

1.20.1 Tying Human Tasks with FCUBS screens

The Human Tasks are tied with the FCUBS screens through the Function Ids attached to each screen.



eneral Conv. Rules Annotations Skin Condition	Tarnets Sources
peert New Pule After	
	BlockCustomerManually 1. globalVariable (************************************
DencurrentAccount.opei	RetryProspectCreation 1 globalVariable (X) ==
	BIPUtility initiate InputVariable 😭 🕀
B Process	Scope - ModifyInputDetails_1 📳 📼
Variables	Variables 🗁 🖻
(x) inputVariable	initiateTaskInput 🙁 🖨
outputVariable	payload 🔚 🖻
Recieve_and_Verify_CustDetails_1	taskservice:initiateTask : initiateTaskType 🔇 🚊 📑
🕀 😥 Seek_Approval_1_globalVariable	task:task : <anonymous> 🚸 🖨 📃 📋</anonymous>
InputAccountDetails_1_globalVariab	task:title : string 💽
🕀 😥 VerifyAccountDetails_1_globalVariab	task:payload : anyType
🖶 🔝 ModifyInputDetails_1_globalVariable	task:taskDefinitionURI : string 🔕
⊞ (x) SucessFlag	task:creator : string 🚳
< >>	task:ownerUser : string 🚳
Сору 🗸	To XPath: /taskservice:initiateTask/task:task/task:taskDefinitionURI 🛛 🗙 👚 🐥
From	Го
🙀 concat(ora:getProcessURL(), string(/ModifyInput	🕼 initiateTaskInput/payload//taskservice:initiateTask/task:task/task:taskDefinitionURI
🖳 number(3)	x initiateTaskInput/payload//taskservice:initiateTask/task:task/task:priority
payload xmlns="ht	x) initiateTaskInput/payload//taskservice:initiateTask/task:task/task:payload
x) outputVariable/payload//ns1:transaction	x) initiateTaskInput/payload//taskservice:initiateTask/task:task/task:payload/ns1:transaction
(x) outputVariable/payload//ns1:transaction/ns1:txnI	x initiateTaskInput/payload//taskservice:initiateTask/task:task/task:systemMessageAttributes/task:textAttribute1
🖳 'STDCA005'	x) initiateTaskInput/payload//taskservice:initiateTask/task:task/task:systemMessageAttributes/task:textAttribute2
🖳 🖳 string ('ModifyInputDetails')	Variable XPath
	initiateTaskInput/payload//taskservice:initiateTask/task:task/task:systemMessageAttributes/task:textAttribute2
1-1-	

The Type String for the function ID should be set as "P" for the process-instantiating screen. I should be "T" for the remaining screens of the process-flow.



1.20.2 Worklist/Queue Configuration

🖉 DOCUMEN1 - 002 - 000 - Oracle FLEXCUBE UBSn	ull - ENG - 2012-11-07 - Transaction Input	- Windows Internet Explorer		
Home Interactions Customer Workflow Tasks Pre	references	Change Branch	Options Window Help Sign Off	
Tasks 🔶				• •
Search				
Standard				

Click on 'Tasks' in the menu. The following screen is displayed:

The system displays all the main menu items that you have maintained in the 'Landing Page Configuration' screen along with the 'Search' and 'Standard' main menu items on the left hand side of the screen.



You can query existing workflow tasks by clicking 'Search' and then choosing the relevant link under it. Under 'Search', you are provided the option of searching tasks across all process flows (the 'ALL' link) or for specific process flows. The fields available under the link 'ALL' are predefined in the system and the link 'ALL' is readily available. The other process flow specific links are displayed only if you maintain them in the 'Landing Page Configuration' screen.

Hone Interactions Outcome Worksw Teals Preferences Change Branch Options Window Help Sgo Of Image Sectors Starts Image Branch Options Window Help Sgo Of Image Sectors ALL Starts Sectors Starts Image Branch Options Window Help Sgo Of Image Sectors ALL Starts Sectors Starts Image Sectors ALL Starts Sectors Auger Society Image Sectors Image Sectors Image Sectors	C DOCUMEN1 - 002 - 000 - Oracle FLEXCUBE U	BSnull - ENG - 2012-11-07 - Transaction Input - Windows Internet Explorer							
Text Image: Control of the second of the	Home Interactions Customer Workflow Tasks	Preferences	Change Branch	Options	Window	Help Sign Off			•
Setrion Istitut-Second -LL Task List-Second Standad Victore Reference -Acourso() Second -Second Victore Reference -Compression Trage = Victore -Compression Trage = Victore -Second -Compression -Second -Second	Tasks 🗲						\rightarrow	Ð	
	Index Close Customer Workflow/ Tasks I Search → LL I Standard → Cxplired(0) → Ssigned(4) → Complex(0) → Pending(0) → Supervisor(0)	Tesk List - Search Worldow Reference Task List - Search Worldow Reference Tasacion Reference Worldow Reference Search Worldow Reference Worldow Reference Worldow Reference Worldow Reference Worldow Reference Worldow Reference Worldow Reference	Change Branch	Options	Window	Help Sign Off		5	

Refer the section 'Configuring Landing Page' under 'Operations' in this user manual for further details.



Specify the basis for your search and click the 'Search' button. All the tasks that meet the parameters specified are fetched as displayed in the screen below:

ODCUMEN1 - 002 - 000 - Oracle FLEXCU	BE UBSni	III - ENG - 2012-11-07 - Tra	nsaction Input -	Windows Internet E	xplorer					
Home Interactions Customer Workflow T	asks Pre	ferences			Change	Branch Options	Window H	elp Sign Of	f	
Tasks	*									6
E Search	Task	List								
E Standard	Acc		Reassion	All Page 1 Of 1	Jump to page	Go	Customor		Creation Date	
Acquired(0)		Workflow Reference	Reference	Title	Assignee Group	Users	Name	Amount	(From\To)+	Priority
 Completed(0) Pendinn(0) 		IslamicljarahAccount1362		Application Entry	ALLROLES			1	2012-04-30 11:14:27 IST	
⇒ Supervisor(0)		IslamicljarahAccount1574		Application Entry	ALLROLES			1	2012-05-10 15:16:46 IST	
		IslamicljarahAccount1575		Application Entry	ALLROLES			1	2012-05-10 15:40:50 IST	
		ImportLCProcessFlow1587		Receive and Verify LC Import	ALLROLES,CCSEROLE			1	2012-05-11 12:11:04 IST	
	Task	History								

If you do not specify any search parameter before clicking 'Search' button, all the tasks will be displayed.

Under the 'Standard' menu, the system displays the following sub-menus and the number of tasks against each of these sub-menus:

- Acquired
- Assigned
- Completed
- Pending
- Supervisor

When you click a sub-menu, the different process flows (transactions) for the sub-menu and the number of tasks outstanding for each process are displayed. Choose the process flow for which you require details and click on it. Details for all the tasks under the corresponding queue are shown in the Task List pane. When you click a task, the relevant details are displayed in the Transaction History pane (below the Task List pane)



The workflow actions that you can perform for a task are:

Acquire/Release

After a task is assigned to a group, you, as a user, can further process the task only if you acquire it. Select the transaction and click 'Acquire' button. The task will then be moved from the group queue to your task list. You can release the task that has already been acquired by clicking 'Release' button..

Reassign

A task can be re-assigned only by a supervisor to any of his subordinates. If you have the requisite rights, you can select the transaction and click 'Reassign' button in your task list. This is done when a contract is transferred from the maker of the contract to another user for further operations.

Resume

A task that has been suspended can be resumed when you click the 'Resume' button in your task list. You can then continue with the suspended task.

The system also gives you the option of carrying out the same action on many tasks simultaneously. To do this, you are required to select all the tasks that you want, by checking the box at the beginning of each row. The operations common to all the tasks are listed at the top of the Task Pane. You can select the appropriate one. The chosen action will be implemented for all the selected tasks. For example, after choosing the tasks that you require, you can acquire all of them in bulk (if the 'Acquire' operation is allowed for all the tasks).

1.20.3 Linkage to Oracle FCUBS validations and modus operandi

Oracle FCUBS validations are carried out in the Function ID and Module specific Upload Layer of FLEXCUBE.

Origination stages reach the module layer at two possible stages

- 1) On save of specific Human Tasks, and/or
- 2) In System Tasks.

On save of human tasks, Oracle FCUBS reaches the Function ID specific Upload Layer every time, but the decision to reach the Module Upload Layer is based on the field - "Application Status". A utility package is used to control this logic.

The Utility package does the following operations:

- 1) Performs generic validations
- 2) Calculates Credit Rules and Ratios, and performs pricing operations
- 3) Analyses screen-actions and routes to specific Module Layers accordingly
- 4) Controls the decision to call the module upload layer based on the Applications Status.
- 5) Analyses the Application Status to sequence multiple module-uploads.



- 6) Convert data from Function ID-specific table-types to Module-specific table types.
- 7) Performs function calls to the related module upload layers.
- 8) Converts data back from Module-specific table types to Function ID-specific table-types.
- 9) Logs Overrides
- 10) Decides whether to Save/Rollback the data based on the Application Status.

1.21 Configuring Oracle FCUBS with Oracle UCM and BIP

Oracle FCUBS can be configured with Oracle UCM for Document Management and BIP for Reports by choosing relevant plug-ins/adapters during Oracle FCUBS installation.

1.21.1 Oracle FCUBS and Oracle UCM

The following images provide the parameters/values for configuring Oracle FCUBS with Oracle UCM.

Source FLEXCUBE Universal Installer 12.0.0						
Oracle FLEXCUBE Universal Banking						
Property File Creation Choose the available plugins for including) them in the current installat	ion.				
Plugin Description	Include					
Reports						
Scheduler	V					
Document Management System						
Branch						
BPEL						
Bank In a Box						
Log	Back	Next Exit				



acle FLEXCUBE Universal Banking	ORACLE						
e rty File Creation se the adapter for enabling Document management sy	stem.						
Server Type Oracle IPM Oracle I/PM - Document Management System with Server Type has Oracle Image and							
ss management							
g 7 of 15	Back Next Exit						
	er Type Oracle IPM er Type Oracle IPM er Type Oracle IPM er Type Type Oracle IPM er Type Type Oracle IPM for the system with Server Type System with Server Type System of the system o						



Oracle FLEXCUBE Universal Installer 12.0.0			
Orac	Oracle FLEXCUBE Universal Banking ORACLE		
Prope Curre	Property File Creation Current screen provides an option for modifying the ORACLE I/PM property values.		
No.	Name	Value	
1	Login Service Address	http://127.0.0.1:16000/imaging/ws/Login	Service
2	Document Service Ad	http://127.0.0.1:16000/imaging/ws/Docu	mentService
3	Document Content Se	http://127.0.0.1:16000/imaging/ws/Docu	mentConte
4	IPM User Name	•••••	
5	IPM Password	•••••	
6	IPM Application Name	OFSS	
7	Http Session Maintain		
Log	8 of 15	Back	Next Exit



1.21.2 Oracle FCUBS and BIP

The following images provide the parameters/values for configuring Oracle FCUBS with BIP.

🕌 Oracle FLEXCUBE Universal Installer 12.0.0		
Oracle FLEXCUBE Universal Banking ORACLE		ORACLE
Property File Creation Choose the available plugins for including	them in the current installat	ion.
Plugin Description	Include	
Reports		
Scheduler		
Document Management System	V	
Branch	V	
BPEL	V	
Bank In a Box	V	
Log	Back	Next Exit



Curre	nt screen provides an optio	n for modifying the Oracle BI Publisher properties	1
No.	Name	Value	
1	Server End Point	http://cvrhp0707:9704/PublicReportService_v1	1
2	NAME SPACE	http://xmlns.oracle.com/oxp/service/PublicRep	
3	User Name	Administrator	
4	Password	•••••	
5	Reports Spool Path	/ReportsSpool	
6	Advice Type	NATIVE	

1.22 How to Instrument BPEL process to push data to BAM

There are two ways to push data to Business Activity Monitor they are as follows:

- Enabling Sensors
- Adding External Data Source

1.22.1 Enabling Sensors

Step 1: Go to the BPEL Process.





Step 2: Check the Enable Monitoring and Click Monitor Configuration

💑 RetailLendingProcessFlow.bpel 🗴	e composite.xml ×
🔽 Enable Monitoring 🔤 🔣 👻 🦃 🌾	🛯 📦 + 🔰 + 🦓 -

Step 3: A dialog Box appears Showing the Mode of monitoring

We can feed data of All Activities to BAM by selecting All Activities mode

less Monitoring Configuration	×
Enable Activity Monitoring	
Mode: All Activities	•
	OK Cancel

(OR)

Feed data of specific activities like Human Tasks, Scopes, BPEL Process

🍝 Mor	nitoring Configuration	×
<mark>.</mark> ✓ <u>E</u> na	able Activity Monitoring	
Mode:	All Activities	•
	All Activities	
	Scopes and Human Tasks Only	
	Human Tasks Only	
	BPEL Process Only	
		OK Cancel

Now these data are feed to a default BAM report called Monitor Express

1.22.2 Adding External Data Source

Data can be feed to BAM Reports by External Data Sources

Step 1: Go to Oracle BAM click Architect



🖉 Oracle BAM Start Page		눩 🔻 🔊 👻 📑 🖶 🔻 Page 🕶 Safety 🕶 Tools 🕶 🕢 👻
ORACLE' BAM		Help About Logout
	Active Viewer » Active Studio » Architect » Administrator »	<section-header> Are used as a chirthy Monitoring (Oracle BAM) is a complete solution for building real- BAM provides usationers with the ability to instrument their existing business applications ability constrained and their impact on the Key Performance Indicators that affect the are used as the oracle of their impact on the Key Performance Indicators that affect the are used to understand their impact on the Key Performance Indicators that affect the are used to understand their impact on the Key Performance Indicators are used to understand their impact on the Key Performance Indicators are used to understand their impact on the Key Performance Indicators are used to use their impact on the Key Performance Indicators are used to use their impact on the Key Performance Indicators are used to use their impact on the Key Performance Indicators are used to use their impact on the Key Performance Indicators are used to use their impact on the Key Performance Indicators are used to use their impact on the Key Performance Indicators are used to use their impact on the Key Performance Indicators are used to use their impact on the Key Performance Indicators are used to use their impact on the Key Performance Indicators are used to use their impact on the Key Performance Indicators are used to use their impact on the Key Performance Indicators are used to use their impact on the Key Performance Indicators are used to use their impact on the Key Performance Indicators are used to use their impact on the Key Performance Indicators are used to use their impact on the Key Performance Indicators are used to use their impact on the Key Performance Indicators are used to use their impact on the Key Performance Indicators are used to use their impact on the Key Performance Indicators are used to use their impact on the Key Performance Indicators are used to use theintered to use their impact on their impact are use their im</section-header>
000, igit @ 2002, 2		

A window appears as shown below:



Cracle BAM Architect - Windows Internet Explorer	Annual	- O X
		Personalize Help About
Data Objects 👻		
Folders	Create Data Object	
Refresh list	(Select an item on the left to view.)	
Data Objects RAM DM		
BAReports		
datamodel Demos		
Folder contains no Data Objects.		

Step 2: Now Select External Data Source from drop down list.



ORACLE' I	BAM Architect
Data Objects	•
Data Objects Enterprise Message Sources External Data Sources	
Alerts	
 □ Data Objects □ BAM DM □ BAMReports □ datamodel □ Demos □ Samples □ System 	

Step 3: Click Create to add a new External Data Source

External Data Sources 🔹	
External Data Sources Refresh list dev3_soainfra fcdemo	<u>Create</u> (Select an item on the left to view.)



A window appears as shown below:

Creating new External Data Source of type "JDBC".		
External Data Source Name:		
Description:	۵ 	
Driver:	orade.jdbc.driver.OradeDriver	
Login:		
Password:		
Connection String:	jdbc:orade:thin:@localhost:1521:ord	
Test	Create Cancel	

Step 5: Enter the Credentials to connect with the Data Source

Creating new External Data Source of type "JDBC".	
External Data Source Name:	DEMO_SOAINFRA
Description:	Creating External Data Source
Driver:	oracle.jdbc.driver.OracleDriver
Login:	dev3_soainfra
Password:	•••••
Connection String:	jdbc:orade:thin:@10.184.74.141:1521:FCDEMO
Test	Create Cancel



Step 6: Click Test to check the Data Source connection

Creating new External Data Source of type "JDBC".							
External Data Source Name: DEMO_SOAINFRA							
Creating External Data Source							
Description:							
Driver evade idea driver OradeDriver							
Connection String idecordentian@10.194.74.141/1521/ECDEMO							
Connection String: jubc:oracle: min:@10.104.74.141:1521:FCDEMO							
Test Create Cancel							
Message from webpage							
External Data Source "DEMO_SOAINERA" is working properly							
External Data Source "DEMO_SOAINFRA" has been created.							
Continue							

Now an External Data Source connection is created



View Test Edit Delete Create					
	External Data Source "DEMO_SOAINFRA"				
Owner:	weblogic				
Created:	10/4/2012 12:29:58 PM				
Last modified:	10/4/2012 12:29:58 PM				
Туре:	JDBC				
Description:	Creating External Data Source	*			
Driver:	oracle.jdbc.driver.OradeDriver				
Login:	dev3_soainfra				
Password:	***************************************				
Connection String:	jdbc:orade:thin:@10.184.74.141:1521:FCDEMO				

Step 7: Now select Data Object from the drop down list

ORACLE' BA	AM Architect
External Data Sources	•
Data Objects Enterprise Message Sources External Data Sources Alerts	
DEMO_SOAINFRA dev3_soainfra fcdemo	

Step 8: Click Create Data object



Data Objects 🔹				
Folders Refresh list Data Objects BAM DM BAMReports datamodel Demos Samples System	<u>Create Data Object</u> (Select an item on the left to view.)			
Name for new Data Object: Location for new Data Object: Tip text: Description: External Data Object Fields in Data Object:	Browse			
Add a neid Add one or more lookup fields Create Data Object Cancel				

Step 9: Enter the Preferred Name and Check External Data Object check box

Name for new Data Object:	DEMOTABLE	
Location for new Data Object:	/BAM_DM	Browse
Tip text:	refering the tables in the datasource	
Description:		
	* *	
External Data Object		
External Data Source: St	elect External Data Source: 🗢	
External Table Name:	•	
Fields in Data Object:		
Add a field Add all fields		
Create Data Object	Cancel	

Step 10: Select the Created Data Source name

Name for new Data Object:	DEMOTABLE	
Location for new Data Object	: /BAM_DM	Browse
Tin texts	refering the tables in the dataseurce	
np texta	referring the tables in the datasotice	
Description:		
refering the tables in the data	asource	
	*	
🗹 External Data Object		
External Data Source:	DEMO SOAINFRA	
External Table Name:	Select External Table:	
Fields in Data Object:		
Add a field Add all fields		
Create Data Object	Cancel	
create bata object	Carter	



External Data Object			
External Data Source:	DEMO_SOAINFRA -		
External Table Name:	Select External Table:	•	
	Select External Table:	*	
Fields in Data Object:	ACTIVITY_PERF	_	
	ADMIN_LIST_CI		
Add a field Add all fields	ADMIN_LIST_CX		
Create Data Object	ADMIN_LIST_WI		
Create Data Object	AG_INSTANCE		
	AQ\$B2B_BAM_QTAB		
	AQ\$EDN_EVENT_QUEUE_TABLE		
	AQ\$EDN_EVENT_QUEUE_TABLE_R		
	AQ\$EDN_EVENT_QUEUE_TABLE_S		
	AQ\$EDN_OAOO_DELIVERY_TABLE		
	AQ\$EDIV_OAGO_DELLIVERT_TABLE_3		
	AOSIP OTAB S		
	AQ\$ B2B_BAM_QTAB_F		
	AQ\$_EDN_EVENT_QUEUE_TABLE_F		
	AQ\$_EDN_EVENT_QUEUE_TABLE_G		
	AQ\$_EDN_EVENT_QUEUE_TABLE_H		
	AQ\$_EDN_EVENT_QUEUE_TABLE_I		
	AQ\$_EDN_EVENT_QUEUE_TABLE_L		
	AQ\$_EDN_EVENT_QUEUE_TABLE_S		
	AC\$ EDN OAOO DELIVERY TABLE C		
	AOS EDN OAOO DELIVERY TABLE H	Ŧ	

Now we can Fetch any tables of the Data Source and can be used in our BAM report



2. New Process Development

2.1 BPEL Components:

The basic components used to create a BPEL Process Flow are as follows:

- Human Task
- Business Rules
- BPEL Process
- Assign Activity
- Invoke Activity
- Receive Activity
- Reply Activity
- Scope Activity
- Terminate Activity
- Throw Activity
- While Activity
- Empty Activity
- Java Embedding
- Switch
- Partner link

2.1.1 <u>Guidelines for defining the process:</u>

- I. BPEL Process must have the same name as the Project.
- II. For invoking a service, **Invoke activity** must be used. The guidelines for the invoke activity are as follows
 - a. Provide the activity with a meaningful name.
 - b. Select the partner link for which an operation is to be specified.
 - c. Select the operation to be performed.
 - d. Create a variable or select an existing variable in which data (payload) is transported.
- III. **Assign activity** is generally used for data manipulation, such as copying the contents of one variable to another. Assign activity is generally used for data manipulation, such as copying the contents of one variable to another. There are 4 icons displayed above the target node that enables you to perform the following tasks on target nodes.



🍲 Oracle JDeveloper 11g Release 1 - Appl	lication20.jws:ProcessFlowTest1.jpr:D:\SK	R\BPEL\Application20\ProcessFlowTe	est1\ProcessFlowTest1.bpel	
Eile Edit View Application Refactor S	jearch <u>Navigate Build R</u> un Versi <u>o</u> ning <u>T</u> o	ols <u>W</u> indow <u>H</u> elp		
🔮 🗁 🗃 🗐 🕬 🤍 I 💥 🛅 💼 I 🕥 •	🖸 - । 🕮 - । 🚵 🕍 🛎 - । ⊳ - 👙 -			(💏 🕶 Search)
Application Navigator	Composite.xml	Composite.xml	est1.bpel	Component Palette
🔁 Application20 👻 🔁 🔻	🖌 - 📋 - 🧐 - 🍣 - 🕒 🚱 🛛 📲		(BPEL + () BPEL -
Projects 🔍 🗞 🍸 • 🔄 • 🗌	Partner Links		Partner Links	- # O
ProcestPointest Societ ProcestPointest Societ ProcestPointest ProcestPointest.ved	processflowlest I	CalbadClient	Partier Links	BPA Blue Prints BPEL Activities and Components Activities and Components Activities sub and Components BEL Activities Sub and Components Bunders Rule Activities Bunders Rule Activities Benders Rule Activities Bender Activities Bender Activities Bender Activities Compensate Create Entry De Engley Device Plave Drive Plave Plave
			Zoom: 100 🛊 ————————— 🔬	Receive
	Design Source History			Remove Entity
	BPEL - Log			Reply
	ProcessFlowTest1.bpel Warnings:	Nelated Process File V	Warnings:	Scope
	XPath Type	# of Errors Warning	Model	Sequence
				€ Signal
		4		SMS
				Switch
< >				Terminate
Application Resources Data Cratuals	Errors: 0 Warnings: 1 Last Validated On: 12 J	al 2011 06:27:18 GMT Errors: 0 Warnings: 0	Last Validated On: 12 Jul 2011 06:27:18 G	1T Throw
Pora controls Recently Opened Files	Validation Search			BPEL Services
	Messages Extensions BPEL		4)	•
D:\SKR\BPEL\Application20\ProcessFlowTest1\composit				BPEL Editor

🕹 Edit Assign	
General Copy Rules Annotations Skip Condition	Targets Sources
Insert New Rule After 💌	🗒 🚵 🙆 🏧 🚭
BPELProcess1.bpel Partner Links Partner Links Process Process Process Process Process Process Process Process Process Process Process Process Process Process Process Process Proc	BPELProcess l.bpel & Partner Links - + + Variables - + Process & - inputVariable (&) - outputVariable (X) - payload - +
Erom XPath: /ns1:transaction	Io XPath: /ns1:transaction 🛛 💥 🍲 🕹
From	То
(a)	😥 outputVariable/payload//ns1:transaction
IIII IIII ora:getConversationId()	(x) outputVariable/payload//ns1:transaction/ns1:txnIdentification/ns1:t
Help	Apply OK Cancel

- a. **Expression icon:** Drag this icon to a target node to invoke the Expression Builder dialog for assigning an XPath expression to that node.
- b. Literal (BPEL 2.0 specification) icon or XML Fragment (BPEL 1.1 specification) icon: Drag this icon to a target node to invoke a dialog for assigning a literal (if the BPEL



project supports the BPEL 2.0 specification) or XML fragment (if the BPEL project supports the BPEL 1.1 specification) to that target node.

- c. Remove icon: Drag this icon to a target node to create a bpelx:remove extension rule.
- d. **Rename icon:** Drag this icon to rename a target node. This adds a bpelx:rename extension rule with an elementTo attribute.
- e. **Recast icon:** Drag this icon to recast a target node. This adds a bpelx:rename extension rule with a typeCastTo attribute. This results in an xsi:typeattribute in the XML output.
- IV. To define an external service with which the process interacts, a **Partner Link** can be used with the following guidelines:
 - a. The web services description language (WSDL) file of the external service must be provided.
 - b. The actual service type (defined as Partner Link Type) must be provided.
 - c. The role of the service (defined as Partner Role) must be provided.
 - d. The role of the process requesting the service (defined as My Role) must be provided.
- V. **Receive activity** specifies the partner link from which to receive information and the port type and operation for the partner link to invoke. The guidelines for adding a receive activity are as follows:
 - a. Provide a meaningful name.
 - b. Select the partner link service for which to specify an operation.
 - c. Select the operation to be performed.
 - d. Create a variable or select an existing variable in which data (payload) is transported.
- VI. **Reply activity** allows the process to send a message in reply to a message that was received through a receive activity. The combination of a receive activity and a reply activity forms a request-response operation on the WSDL port type for the process.
- VII. **Scope activity** consists of a collection of nested activities that can have their own local variables, fault handlers, compensation handlers, and so on. It is analogous to a { } block in a programming language. The following guidelines must be followed while adding a catch block.
 - a. Each scope has a primary activity that defines its behavior.
 - b. There can be many nested activities inside the scope.
 - c. Scopes can contain other scopes, if they are not Isolated
 - d. Scopes can have Compensation and Termination handlers
 - e. Variables created inside the scope are visible only to itself and any nested scopes if present.
 - f. Fault handling is associated with a scope activity using Catch activity.
 - i. Catch activity is present in a scope activity to create a set of custom faulthandling activities.
 - ii. Each catch activity is defined to intercept a specific type of fault.
 - iii. This is done to create fault handling logic to catch and manage exceptions.
 - iv.
- VIII. Empty Activity enables you to insert a no-operation instruction into a process.
- IX. **Java Embedding Activity** enables you to add custom Java code to a BPEL process using the Java BPEL exec extension bpelx:exec.



💩 Edit Java En	nbedding	Σ
General Anr	notations	
<u>N</u> ame:	Java_Embedding_1	
Java Version:	1.5	•
Code <u>S</u> nippet:	<pre>try { String responseMessage = (String)getVariableData("task_variable"); int startIndex = responseMessage.indexOf("<taskid>");</taskid></pre>	
	<pre>int endIndex = responseMessage.indexOf(""); String taskId = responseMessage.substring(startIndex+8,endIndex); setVariableData("taskIdl",taskId); System.err.println("TaskId"+taskId);</pre>	
	<pre>} catch (Exception e) { e printStackTrace(); }</pre>	
	}	
		~
Help		Apply OK Cancel

- X. Terminate Activity enables you to end the tasks of an activity
- xi. Throw Activity generates a fault from inside the business process.
- XII. While Activity supports repeated performance of a specified iterative activity.
 - a. Repeated only till the given while condition is no longer true.



While					*
General	Annotations	Skip Condition	Targets	Sources	
<u>N</u> ame:					
<u>C</u> ondition:	:				f _x
bpws:get :task/tas :getVaria /task:sys :getVaria /task:sys 'getVaria /task:sys 'Underwr :systemA	VariableData('Ur k:systemAttribut bleData('Underw temAttributes/ta bleData('Underw temAttributes/ta bleData('Underw temAttributes/ta iting_1_globalVai ttributes/task:st	derwriting_1_glob es/task:state") != riting_1_globalVar sk:state") != 'COM riting_1_globalVar sk:state") != 'WIT riting_1_globalVar sk:state") != 'STAI iable', 'payload', 'y ate") != 'ERRORED	valVariable', 'EXPIRED' a iable', 'payl IPLETED' ar iable', 'payl HDRAWN' a iable', 'payl LE' and bpw (task:task/t)	'payload', '/task and bpws oad', '/task:task d bpws oad', '/task:task nd bpws oad', '/task:task s:getVariableDa ask	: : : :ta(
Help		Др	ply	ок	Cancel

- XIII. **Switch Activity** consists of an ordered list of one or more conditional branches defined in a case branch, followed optionally by an otherwise branch. Guidelines are as follows:
 - b. Branches are considered in the order in which they appear
 - c. When no branch with a condition is taken, the otherwise branch is taken.
 - d. If otherwise branch is not explicitly specified, an otherwise branch with an empty activity is assumed to be available.


🗁 Oracle JDeveloper 11g Release 1 - 114P4.jws : RetailLending.jpr : D.:RADTOOL/BPEL/11.4. P04/RetailLending/ProcessFlow.bpel				
<u>File Edit View Application Refactor Search</u>	<u>Navigate Build Run Versioning Tools Window H</u> elp			
🔮 🗁 🖶 🎒 I 🕫 🥲 I 🗶 🐘 🐘 I 🔕 - 🔘 -	- I 🏯 🕍 🛎 - I 🕨 - 🕸 - I 🛕	(💏 - Search		
PApplication × SBPM Projec × S +	allo composite.xm/ × 🕌 BPELProcess1.bpe/ × 🛃 bm.xsd × 🐕 RetailLendingProcessFlow.bpel × 🖓 composite.xml × 💌	Component Palette ×		
🔁 114P4 👻 🖼 👻	✔ 🍇 (x) 🗞 🚥 🚟 () 💆 = 🖗 = 👶 = 🍓 🎐 🚳 🖏 🍈 – 🦳 🧖 🚮 EFE. 🕅 Monitor) – 🕁 EFA. (2)	BPEL 1.1 -		
▼ Projects 💽 🖓 🖓 + 🏣 +		A O		
WeifyAppRules_DecisionService_Twiap	■ 2.	BPEL Constructs		
VerifyAppRules.decs	Evternal/VC/herk2	Oracle Extensions		
SimpleRetailLending	Excernance recent	SOA Components		
B- dasses	T C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	BPEL Process		
testsuites	x	Business Rule		
fileList.xml		B Human Task		
	\$ExternalKYCChe \$ExternalKYCChe otherwise	-& meulator		
txn.xsd	B Label:			
🛅 xsl	Descriptions Tool outcome is CAN/CE			
Business Rules	B9 Here			
BPELProcess1.bpe/	Condition:			
BPELProcess1.wsd	\$ExternalKYCCheck1_globalVariable.payload/task:system			
< > >	Attributes/task:outcome = 'CANCEL'			
Application Resources				
Recently Opened Files				
6.6.6	OK Cancel			
Thumbnail × 📜 RetailLendingProc ×				
A 19				
𝑘 @ ↔ / ×				
💑 RetailLendingProcessFlow.bpel				
🗎 🫅 Partner Links				
Variables Correlation Sets	Zoom: 100 🚔			
Imports	Design Source History			
Properties				
Message Types				
Activities				
	ID Date Call Met Un Query Cooke / Key Status Set-Cooke I ype Size			
Show Detailed Node Information				
Source BPEL	Sequence Correlation	BPEL Services		
D: \RADTOOL\BPEL\11_4_P04\RetaiLending\composite.xml		BPEL editor		

XIV. **Human Tasks** are used for creating or associating a task definition file with an activity. When a new stage is to be added to the process, a human task is added. Guidelines for human tasks are as follows:





- e. Function ID of the stage must be mapped to the human task that corresponds to it.
- f. Human tasks must have a variable that has a payload(data) transported to it.
- XV. **Business Rules** are the rules that specify the policies of the organization. These rules can be altered dynamically in SOA composer or in the BPEL process itself. Guidelines for creating Business rules are as follows:
 - g. Rule must be given a proper name
 - h. Inputs and Outputs must be defined for the rule
 - i. Conditions must be specified in the rule sets



🗅 Oracle JDeveloper 11g Release 1 - 114P4 jws : RetailLending.jpr : DARADTOOL/APEL/11 4_PO4/RetailLending/ProcessFlow.bpel					
File Edit View Application Refactor Search Navigate Build Run Versigning Tools Window Help					
🕑 🗁 🗃 🗐 🕫 🖓 🐘 🐘 i 🗿 • 🔘 •	💩 = 💩 🎎 🚢 🛳 = 🕨 = 🌞 = 🛕		(Search		
Application × SBPM Projec × S +	에는 composite.xm/ × 옮 BPELProcess1.bpel × 읊 bm.xsd × 🔥 Retailt endingProcessFlow.bpel	X algo composite.xml X	Component Palette ×		
🔁 114P4 👻 🔁 🗸	🖌 🎯 (x) 🖏 📾 🖫 🕕 📓 • 🕅 • 🗳 • 🖓 1 🔅 🚳 1 % 🍘 • 📃 📒	👬 EPEL 🔛 Monitor 🗠 SPA 🔇 🕐	BPEL 1.1		
Projects Project Projects Project Projects Project Projects Project Pro	Rule Uctors Sign Condition Uctors General Uct	Status Set-Cooke Type Sax	 PEL Control to S Conde Extensions SoA Components Bell Proces Burtans Rule Munan Task Mediator 		
Source BPEL	Consistent Correlation		BPEL Services		
D:\BADTOOI \BPEI \11_4_P04\Retail endon\composite ym			PDF1 editor		
and a second sec			DFLL Editor		

2.2 Embedding the payload

- j. For defining payload, a variable that contains the data (payload) transported must be imported or a new variable must be created for defining the payload.
- k. Generally an xsd file is imported for embedding the payload to the process.
- 1. This xsd file would be having the format for receiving the data from the screen/front end and few other meta data.
- m. Using the FCJDOMtoFCJXXXConverter.java class the data from the external processes like DBUtility, CreditBureau etc the data gets converted from FCJDOM to DBDOM.

2.3 Screen Definition in ODT

- a. The initial stage screen (say Application Entry screen in Retail Loan Origination) must be Process Screen and the screens that proceeds must be Transaction Screens
- b. All the screens of the process must be mapped to the process code maintained for the process in SMTM_PROCESS_CODES.
- c. The Header and the Footer of the screens must be of type PROCESS.
- d. The template screen must be a Maintenance screen

2.4 <u>Stitching up process & screens</u>

- a. The screens must be mapped to a process code in SMTB_MENU.
- b. The process codes would be present in SMTM_PROCESS_CODES as mentioned earlier.



- c. The function IDs must be given for the human task in the BPEL process flow that corresponds to the stage.
- d. The initial stage screen (say Application Entry screen in Retail Loan Origination) must be Process Screen and the screens that proceeds must be Transaction Screens as mentioned earlier.

2.5 <u>Work List / Queue configuration</u>

Already present in generic maintenance.



3. Modifying an Existing Process

3.1 Adding a new Stage

- a. To add a new stage to a process a Human Task is added which specifies the activities of the stage.
- b. Human Task will be mapped to the function ID of the stage/screen.
- c. Human task can be dragged and dropped from the component pallet



d. Creating a human task is explained briefly in the

3.2 Removing an existing stage / Bypassing an existing stage

- a. To remove an existing stage, the human task corresponding to the stage can be selected and deleted.
- b. To bypass an existing stage Business Rules can be added to the process
 - i. Business rules are mainly used for describing the policies and rules of the company.
 - ii. These business rules will be validated and the decision will be taken by the process accordingly.
 - iii. For instance, say in Retail Loan Origination Process Blacklist check is a nonmandatory stage and so Blacklist check stages needs to be visited only if the KYC Required flag is set. In this case suitable rules may be used to check the status of the KYCRequired flag and visit the KYC stages only if the flags are set

3.3 Adding fields to existing process

- a. The xsd file which has the data(payload) transported needs to be opened in the Jdeveloper
- b. Expand the content of the variable, additional fields option is displayed.
- c. Expand the additional fields, and add the fields to the process.

3.4 Altering approval matrix

a. Here, supervisor will be having the managerial roles say (ALLROLES) and he/she can see all the tasks present in the assigned queue.



- b. Whereas the subordinates can have other roles like ORIG-ROLE where he/she can see only the tasks specific to their roles.
- c. These roles are mapped in SMTB_USER_ROLE for the users and SMTB_ROLE_DETAIL for the stages/function Ids.

3.5 <u>Altering Business Rules</u>

Business rules can be altered in 2 ways:

- iv. **Dynamically**: Rules can be altered dynamically in the SOA composer. Here, the rules can be altered dynamically during the run-time of the process
- v. **Statically**: Rules can be altered in the BPEL process itself. This can be done by opening the Rule and making specific changes.

3.6 Altering Queue Configuration

It is mentioned in generic maintenance.



4. Trouble Shooting - FAQ

4.1 How to recover stale instances?

- a. The ideal way is to take the <XXX>_ORASDPM,<XXX>_SOAINFRA schema backup before redeploy of process flow with same version.
- b. Re-deploying would make the instances stale(instance data are in SOAINFRA and ORASDPM schemas).
- c. Re-import the exported <XXX>_ORASDPM, <XXX>_SOAINFRA schema.
- d. As part of SOA 11.1.1.6 there is an option to redeploy the process flows without making the instances stale.
- e. Below is the screenshot of EM console of SOA 11.1.1.6(Refer bottom Running instances section of screenshot).

🍘 /Farm_BPM_RND/BPM_RND/soa_server1/soa-infra (Oracle SOA Infra) - Oracle Enterprise Manager (web - Windows Internet Explorer			- 0 <mark>- X</mark>
🕒 🕞 🖉 http://soateam-mdl:7201/em/faces/as/wlFarmHome?target=Farm_BPM_RND&type=oracle_ias_farm&_afrLoop=765257111586410#%2Fai%2Fem	ai 🔻 😽 🗙 🚼 Google		• م
X O McAfee			
👷 Favorites 🛛 🙀 🔊 Get more Add-ons 🔻			
😢 🔻 🏉 Farm_FCDEMO (Oracle Fu 🧭 /Farm_BPM_RND/BPM 🗴	🏠 🔻 🗟 👻 🚍 🖷	• <u>P</u> age • <u>S</u> afety •	T <u>o</u> ols ▼
ORACLE Enterprise Manager 11g Fusion Middleware Control			Help 🗸
RetailLending [1.0] (Orade SOA Composite) I : Redeploy SOA Composite			<u>5</u>
Select Archive Confirmation			
Confirmation		Cancel Back Step	2 of 2 Redeploy
You are redeploying the following SQA composite revision(s). Click "Redeploy" to continue or click "Cancel" to cancel this operation.			
Composite Name Retaillending			
Composite Revision 1.0			
Archive Location sca_Retail.ending_rev1.0.jar			
Configuration Han I No external plan specified Denlowment Twork - Farm BPM RND/Rob RND/koa server1			
SOA Partition default			
Default Revision			
Deploy as default revision Do not change the default revision			
Aunning Instances	t relect the "Continue instances" o	ntion helow	
This composite revision surfact running instances, reorginging in changes die states of index instances to state. If you wan for the instances to contraine running after redeployment This capability is not supported if the composite has a BPEL component that has changed from the previous revision.	c, select the continue instances of	poor below.	
Chance states of running instances to stale			
③ Continue instances on redeploy (current instance states will not be changed)			
Done	Local intranet Protected Mode:	Off 🐴 🔻	🔍 100% 🔻

4.2 <u>How to handle the growing instances in the Production</u> <u>Environment?</u>

We can handle this in following 2 ways:



- Purge the instances, In EM level we have purging option, we can use this to purge the instances. Also there will be a new FCUBS screen to purge the instances. This new screen will come in the upcoming release.
- SOA Schemas DB archival.

4.3 <u>What is the procedure to move the FCUBS application</u> with BPEL from One WEBLOGIC server to another WEBLOGIC server without affecting the existing repository?

- i. The practice is to take an export of <XXX>_ORASDPM, <XXX>_SOAINFRA schema as backup.
- ii. <XXX>_MDS schema backup need not be taken.
- iii. Create a new domain, point it to the existing SOA Schemas used by old domain as tried by you(SOAINFRA, MDS, ORASDPM)
- iv. Re-deploy the process flows by changing the IP and port(Note: process flows are deployed to MDS schema)
- v. Re-deploying would make the instances stale(instance data are in SOAINFRA and ORASDPM schemas)
- vi. Re-import the exported <XXX>_ORASDPM, <XXX>_SOAINFRA schema.

4.4 When the instances will become stale?

The instances will become stale due to the new deployment process flow with same version.

4.5 <u>How & where to change the Transaction timeout</u> <u>settings for BPEL?</u>

SOA 11g: Timeout settings

After configuration of your SOA 11g environment, the (non-)clustered domain must be changed to increase the default time-out settings.

We can do this directly in the CONFIG files; make sure your admin server and managed servers are down.

At WEBLOGIC level:

Stop Admin and SOA servers

I. Set the global transaction JTA to 3600 seconds, be default it is 40 sec:

\$DOMAIN_HOME/soa_domain/config/config.xml

•••

<timeout-seconds>3600</timeout-seconds>



...

II. At SOA 11g - BPEL level: Set the sync wait time of synchronous processed to 120 seconds (45 by default).

\$DOMAIN_HOME/soa_domain/config/soa-infra/configuration/bpel-config.xml

...

<syncMaxWaitTime>200</syncMaxWaitTime>

...

Start the admin and soa_servers

III. Updating SOA-INFRA ejbs

Log into Oracle WebLogic Administration Console.

Click Deployments.

Expand soa-infra -> EJBs.

You can check in the config tab for the timeout setting in the BPEL* EJBs:

BPELEngineBean
Set Timeout to 1800

BPELDeliveryBean□ set timeout to 1800

Make sure BPELEngineBean + BPELDeliveryBean is <= JTA timeout(1800+1800 <= 3600)

Click Save.

Note, that the first time it will ask you to create a Plan.xml file.

Make sure that this Plan.xml is stored in its own directory, for example: \$WLS_DOMAIN/soa_domain/plan/ejb

Update the soa-infra application

Restart Oracle WebLogic Server.

Things to be taken care while versioning a business process.

4.6 <u>What is the frequency to take the SOA schemas</u> <u>Backup?</u>

Ideally we can take the SOA Schemas backup as like FCUBS.



4.7 How & Where to look for missing instances?

The instances details are also stored in the FLEXCUBE schema OR module Tables. The missing instances details can be viewed under the menu Origination \rightarrow Templates where you can provide respective Application number and search for the details as shown in the below screen.

Corporate Customer Creation		_ ×
le Execute Query		
Application Category * Application Branch * Application Date *	Application Number *	
Account Details	Account Number	
- Customer Details		
Local Branch * Customer Number * Short Name * Populate Search	Type Corporate Bank Existing Customer SWIFT Code Follow up Date	
Main Corporate Directors Bank Details Credit Re	ort KYC Details	
Customer Information	- Contact Person	
Customer Name External Reference Country * Nationality * Language * Customer Category * Statuses	Name Telephone Email Contact Address Address	
Relationship Manager ID Name	ing Country	
Documents MIS Fields Internal Blacklist Check		
Prev Remarks	Remarks Audit Outcome 🗸	Cancel

4.8 BPEL is not working when deploying FLEXCUBE 11.2 with SAO 11.3 and above?

In SOA 11.3 release, the Identity service had been changed. FLEXCUBE CIS was not in sync with new identity service. The FLEXCUBE CIS has been updated in the FLEXCUBE 11.3 patch release. This problem will not come from FLEXCUBE 11.3. The conclusion is FLEXCUBE 11.2 should not be deployed on SOA 11.3 and above, should be deployed in the lesser versions as per the Release Certificate. Kindly refer the release certificate for the respective FLEXCUBE version.



4.9 <u>SOA server is crashing when logging in to the</u> <u>application?</u>

This problem is due to USER Name and ROLE ID maintenance in the FLEXCUBE. USER Name and ROLE ID should not be maintained as same in the FLEXCUBE. The validation is added in the "User Maintenance screen" To restrict this kind of maintenance.

4.10 Instances are Becoming fault while invoking the sub processes?

This problem is because of improper URL maintenance in the WSDL of sub processes & improper CONFIG plans maintenance. Make sure URL & CONFIG planes are correctly maintained in the sub processes.

4.11 <u>Where to locate the logs and which are all the logs to locate?</u>

The logs are available in the following location of the server

Oracle/Middleware/user_projects/domains/BPM_RND/servers/soa_server1/logs

Here BPM_RND is the Domain Name.

Following logs are required to diagnose the problem

soa_server1-diagnostic.log soa_server1.log soa_server1.out

4.12 Why PreDeploy needs and the steps to be followed?

The Idea of Predeploy utility is to avoid the SOA setup configuration errors

Steps to be followed::

i. Update the preDeploy.properties as shown below

preDeploy properties Domain_Home =D:/Software/BPM/Weblogic_SOA/user_projects/domains/BPM_devDomain1 Soa_Server =AdminServer Soa_Home_Loc =D:/Software/BPM/Weblogic_SOA/Oracle_SOA1 Data_Source =fcjDevDS Cis_Jar_Loc =D:/EAR Middleware_Home =D:/Software/BPM/Weblogic_SOA MDS_Schema_Password =SchemaPassword



a) Domain_Home :

Enter the domain home Location in which the application going to be deployed.

b) Soa_Server:

Enter the Soa server name created in the above mentioned domain(Eg:soa_server1)

c) Soa_Home_Loc:

Enter the SOA middleware home.

d) Data_Source:

Enter the Flexcube data source name.

e) Cis_Jar_Loc:

Along with FCUBS Ear file, Installer creates BPELCIS.jar file enter the location of this file.

f) Middleware_Home:

Enter the Middleware location

g) MDS_Schema_Password: MDS schema password for updating the workflow-identity-config.xml

ii. Library Files

The Below jar files required to run the pre deployment script

- a) commons-io-1.4.jar
 - Download Instructions:

Commons IO 1.3 is available in the archives at

http://archive.apache.org/dist/commons/io/binaries/ .The file to be downloaded is commons-io-1.4.zip.

Post Download Instructions:

Extract the Commons IO 1.4 distribution to a directory. Copy the following file commons-io-1.4.jar

- Into the directory {CURRENT_DIR}\lib\
- b) xerces.jar

Copy the following file xerces.jar Into the directory {CURRENT_DIR}\lib\

- iii. Running the Pre deployment script:
 - Run the Deploy.cmd/ Deploy.sh.This will call the PreDeploy.jar.
 - This will create the directory backup_***. In this directory you will find the below files
 - a) config.xml This is backup file
 - b) jps-config.xml –This is backup file
 - c) workflow-identity-config.xml -This is backup file
 - d) workflowConfigTransferLog.log Log file for import and export of workflow-identityconfig.xml file

Licensing related FAQ

4.13 <u>I am using SOA/BPEL 10g, Can I use BAM 11g without</u> upgrading my SOA 10g installation?

Yes. SOA/BPEL10g is compatible with Oracle BAM 11g. If you have not used Oracle BAM before then you should start with Oracle BAM 11g. If you use Oracle BAM 10g, you can upgrade your Oracle BAM deployment to 11g. It will continue to work with SOA/BPEL 10g. There is an upgrade utility packaged as part of the Oracle BAM 11g installation to provide a seamless upgrade of your Oracle BAM 10g metadata to Oracle BAM 11g. Please see the Oracle BAM 11g documentation for details.

4.14 Is Oracle BAM 11g available separately?

Oracle BAM 11g is sold as a component of the Oracle SOA Suite, Oracle BPM Suite or Oracle EDA Suite. There are many benefits to using Oracle BAM in conjunction with other Oracle software components, but Oracle BAM is not limited to only Oracle sources and it is common for Oracle BAM to integrate multiple Oracle and non-Oracle event and data sources in a single implementation. Oracle BAM is delivered and can be downloaded only through the Oracle SOA Suite integrated installer. Customers choosing only to install Oracle BAM as a stand-alone implementation, are given the option to do so during the Oracle SOA Suite installation process. Users are automatically prompted to select the components which they wish to install and can select only Oracle BAM, if desired.





Process Flow Guide [May] [2016] Version 12.2.0.0.0

Oracle Financial Services Software Limited Oracle Park Off Western Express Highway Goregaon (East) Mumbai, Maharashtra 400 063 India

Worldwide Inquiries: Phone: +91 22 6718 3000 Fax:+91 22 6718 3001 www.oracle.com/financialservices/

Copyright © [2007], [2016], Oracle and/or its affiliates. All rights reserved.

Oracle and Java are registered trademarks of Oracle and/or its affiliates. Other names may be trademarks of their respective owners.

U.S. GOVERNMENT END USERS: Oracle programs, including any operating system, integrated software, any programs installed on the hardware, and/or documentation, delivered to U.S. Government end users are "commercial computer software" pursuant to the applicable Federal Acquisition Regulation and agency-specific supplemental regulations. As such, use, duplication, disclosure, modification, and adaptation of the programs, including any operating system, integrated software, any programs installed on the hardware, and/or documentation, shall be subject to license terms and license restrictions applicable to the programs. No other rights are granted to the U.S. Government.

This software or hardware is developed for general use in a variety of information management applications. It is not developed or intended for use in any inherently dangerous applications, including applications that may create a risk of personal injury. If you use this software or hardware in dangerous applications, then you shall be responsible to take all appropriate failsafe, backup, redundancy, and other measures to ensure its safe use. Oracle Corporation and its affiliates disclaim any liability for any damages caused by use of this software or hardware in dangerous applications.

This software and related documentation are provided under a license agreement containing restrictions on use and disclosure and are protected by intellectual property laws. Except as expressly permitted in your license agreement or allowed by law, you may not use, copy, reproduce, translate, broadcast, modify, license, transmit, distribute, exhibit, perform, publish or display any part, in any form, or by any means. Reverse engineering, disassembly, or decompilation of this software, unless required by law for interoperability, is prohibited.

The information contained herein is subject to change without notice and is not warranted to be error-free. If you find any errors, please report them to us in writing.

This software or hardware and documentation may provide access to or information on content, products and services from third parties. Oracle Corporation and its affiliates are not responsible for and expressly disclaim all warranties of any kind with respect to third-party content, products, and services. Oracle Corporation and its affiliates will not be responsible for any loss, costs, or damages incurred due to your access to or use of third-party content, products, or services.